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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.
The unaudited consolidated financial statements of Greenergy Holdings Incorporated and subsidiaries
as of and for the period ended 30 September 2020 (with comparative figures as of 31 December 2019
and for the period ended 30 September 2019) are filed as part of this SEC Form 17-Q as Annex “A”.
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
should be read in conjunction with the attached unaudited consolidated financial statements of
Greenergy Holdings Incorporated and subsidiaries as of and for the period ended 30 September 2020.
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATION
Interim 3rd quarter
Balance Sheet
Cash and cash equivalent amounted to P1.36 million as at September 30, 2020 from P1.32 million
consolidated at December 31, 2019. The increase in cash is due to additional advances received from
related party during the period.
Receivables decreased to P251.91 million in September 30, 2020 from P252.20 million as of December
31, 2019 mainly due to collection and liquidations of advances to employees during the quarter.
Due from related parties decreased to P715.15 million in September 30, 2020 from P717.92 million
consolidated at December 31, 2019 as a result of liquidation and collections of advances to stockholders
during the period.
Other current assets slightly increased to P9.39 million in September 30, 2020 from P9.28 million
consolidated at December 31, 2019 due to increase in Input VAT during the period.
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Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income decreased during the period from
P2.46 billion to P1.42 billion due to decrease in market price based on published price in the stock
market.
Property and equipment, decreased to P144.89 million in September 30, 2020 from P154.52 million as
at December 31, 2019 mainly due to depreciation and amortization during the period.
Trade and Other Payables increased to P25.34 million in September 30, 2020 compared to the December
31, 2019 amounting to P19.22 million due to additional payables during the period.
Non-controlling interest decreased to P106.09 million in September 30, 2020 from P113.24 million as
at December 31, 2019 due to net loss results of the operations of subsidiaries under common control.
Income Statement
Revenue recorded for the nine (9) months of 2020 is P1.64 million, which includes Agri-tourism revenue
and rental income from P1.43 million last quarter of 2019. The increase is due to increase in sale of
fresh produce during the period as compared to last quarter of 2019.
Expenses such as contractual services, utilities, repairs and maintenance, materials and supplies,
transportation, legal and professional and taxes and licenses decreases by P4.67 million during the 3 rd
quarter of 2020 as compared to last quarter of 2019.
As a result of the above, the Company had a Consolidated Operating Loss of P22.30 million for the
period September 30, 2020.
The Group shall continue to expand its core business and increase coverage in various investments in
diversified industries such as, but not limited to, renewable energy, real estate, agriculture, waste
management facility and information technology.
On July 17, 2019, the Parent Company also entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with RYM
Business Management Corp. (“RYM”) and certain landowners in connection with an investment in Prime
Media Holdings, Inc. (“Prime”). Under the MOA, properties in, among others, the Province of Rizal will
be invested, infused and contributed to Prime in exchange for primary common shares to be issued from
the latter’s unissued authorized capital stock (the “Investment”). The Investment is subject to
verification and validation by RYM of the titles and ownership rights of the landowners.
Also, the Group has started an active campaign to gain new clients as well as to revive previous
relationships through marketing and selling activities in the Philippines and overseas. With these
investments, the management of the Group assessed that the going concern assumption remains to be
appropriate as the Group continues to generate sufficient cash flows to sustain operations and complete
its current and future plans.

PART II--OTHER INFORMATION
None.

Greenergy Holdings Incorporated
SEC Form 17-Q

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Regulation Code, the issuer has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Issuer

GREENERGY HOLDINGS INCORPORATED

Signature and Title

ANTONIO L. TIU
Chairman of the Board and President

Date

11 November 2020

Signature and Title

KENNETH S. TAN
Chief Financial Officer

Date

11 November 2020

Greenergy Holdings Incorporated
SEC Form 17-Q

GREENERGY HOLDINGS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 AND DECEMBER 31, 2019
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

2020

2019

₱ 1,361,812
251,908,358
715,151,109
9,390,614
977,811,893

₱ 1,320,074
252,196,139
717,917,772
9,281,497
980,715,482

19,600,000

19,600,000

1,418,268,162
6,320,465
144,887,392
1,589,076,019

2,461,005,166
6,320,465
154,518,437
2,641,444,068

₱ 2,566,887,912

₱ 3,622,159,550

₱ 25,338,964
84,795,945
2,318
221,821,275
331,958,502

₱ 19,215,473
80,986,459
165,449
221,821,275
322,188,656

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalent (Note 6)
Receivables – net (Note 7)
Due from related parties – net (Note 16)
Other current assets – net (Note 9)
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets
Deposits for land acquisition (Note 8)
Financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) (Note 10)
Investment properties – net (Note 14)
Property and equipment – net (Note 13)
Total Noncurrent Assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 15)
Due to related parties (Note 16)
Income tax payable
Deposit for future stock subscription (Note 16)
Total Current Liabilities
(Forward)

-2-

(Carryforward)
2020
Equity
Attributable to equity holders of Parent Company
Capital stock (Note 17)
Common – P1.00 par value
Authorized – 1,900,000,000 shares in 2020 and 2019
Subscribed and paid – 1,703,278,572 shares
in 2020 and 2019
₱ 1,703,278,572
Preferred – P0.10 par value
Authorized and subscribed
1,000,000,000 shares
100,000,000
Additional paid-in capital
268,090,531
Cumulative fair value gain (loss) on
(1,680,775,381)
financial asset at FVOCI (see Note 10)
Retained earnings
1,738,247,245
2,128,840,967
106,088,443
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
2,234,929,410
₱ 2,566,887,912
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2019

₱ 1,703,278,572

100,000,000
268,090,531
(638,038,377)
1,753,401,814
3,186,732,540
113,238,354
3,299,970,894
₱ 3,622,159,550

GREENERGY HOLDINGS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

For the Quarter ended September 30
2020
2019
SALES (Note 18)

₱ 1,129,768

For the Nine Months ended September 30
2020
2019

₱ 528,899

₱ 1,637,417
1,750,933

COST OF SALES (Note 19)

683,760

211,559

GROSS INCOME (LOSS)

446,008

317,340

(113,516)

₱ 1,429,541
691,062
738,479

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
EXPENSES (Note 20)

(7,868,990)

(9,394,158)

(22,487,170)

(27,157,788)

OPERATING LOSS

(7,422,982)

(9,076,818)

(22,600,686)

(26,419,309)

98,826
359
(1,494)
97,691

(350,000)
73,043
1,996
1,551
(273,410)

296,480
1,393
(1,667)
296,206

(350,000)
277,928
27,884
603
(43,585)

(7,325,291)

(9,350,228)

(22,304,480)

(26,462,894)

OTHER INCOME (CHARGES) – Net
Loss on sale of financial asset at FVOCI
Rental income (Note 18)
Interest income (Note 6)
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) (Note 6)

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Note 21)
NET LOSS
(Forward)

–
(₱ 7,325,291)

17,412
(₱ 9,367,640)

–
(₱ 22,304,480)

39,032
(₱ 26,501,926)

-2-

(Carryforward)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (OCI)
Not reclassifiable subsequently to profit or loss
Increase (decrease) in fair value of
financial asset at FVOCI (Note 10)
Reclassifiable subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations (Note 11)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
NET LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests (Note 23)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE GAIN (LOSS)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interests (Note 23)

LOSS PER SHARE (Note 22)
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

For the Quarter ended September 30
2020
2019

269,799,085

346,363,690

For the Nine Months ended September 30
2020
2019

(1,042,737,004)

–

(182,296,679)

–

–

₱ 269,799,085

₱ 346,363,690

(₱ 1,042,737,004)

(₱ 182,296,679)

–

₱ 262,473,794

₱ 336,996,050

(₱ 1,065,041,484)

(₱ 208,798,605)

(₱ 2,480,748)
(4,844,543)
(₱ 7,325,291)

(₱ 6,399,142)
(2,968,498)
(₱ 9,367,640)

(₱ 15,154,569)
(7,149,911)
(₱ 22,304,480)

(₱ 18,073,625)
(8,428,301)
(₱ 26,501,926)

₱ 267,318,337
(4,844,543)
₱ 262,473,794

₱ 339,964,548
(2,968,498)
₱ 336,996,050

(₱ 1,057,891,573)
(7,149,911)
(₱ 1,065,041,484)

(₱ 200,370,304)
(8,428,301)
(₱ 208,798,605)

(₱ 0.01)

(₱ 0.01)

(₱ 0.01)

(₱ 0.01)

GREENERGY HOLDINGS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

2020

2019

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF PARENT COMPANY
CAPITAL STOCK (Note 17)
Common
Authorized – 1.9 billion shares
Par value – P1.00 per share
Issued and
subscribed – 1,800,778,572 shares
Issuance during the period
Balance at end of period
Subscription receivable

₱ 1,800,778,572
–
1,800,778,572
(97,500,000)
1,703,278,572

₱ 1,800,778,572
–
1,800,778,572
(97,500,000)
1,703,278,572

Preferred
Authorized – 1 billion shares
Par value – P0.10 per share
Issued – 1,000,000,000 shares

100,000,000

100,000,000

ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL
Balance at beginning of the period
Issuance during the period
Balance at end of the period

268,090,531
–
268,090,531

268,090,531
–
268,090,531

CUMULATIVE FAIR VALUE GAIN (LOSS) ON
FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVOCI
Balance at beginning of the period
Unrealized loss during the period
Balance at end of the period (Note 10)

RETAINED EARNINGS
Balance at beginning of year
Reclassification due to disposal of share in increase
in fair value of financial asset at FVOCI
Net income (loss) during the period
Balance at end of period

(638,038,377)
(1,042,737,004)
(1,680,775,381)

1,753,401,814

1,793,486,641

–
(15,154,569)
1,738,247,245

1,779,400
(18,073,625)
1,777,192,416

₱ 2,128,840,967

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Balance at beginning of year
Net loss during the period
Reversal in fair value of financial asset at FVOCI
due to disposal
Balance at end of period (Note 23)

₱ 113,238,354
(7,149,911)
–
106,088,443
₱ 2,234,929,410

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

607,640
(182,904,319)
(182,296,679)

₱ 3,666,264,840

₱ 129,294,402
(8,428,301)
(601,760)
120,264,341
₱ 3,786,529,181

GREENERGY HOLDINGS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization (Note 13)
Loss on sale of financial asset at FVOCI
Interest income (Note 6)
Unrealized foreign exchange
loss (gain) (Note 6)
Operating loss before working
capital changes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in:
Receivables (Note 7)
Other current assets (Note 9)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other
payables (Note 15)
Net cash used in operations
Interest received (Note 6)
Income taxes paid
Net cash used in operating activities
(Forward)

2019

(₱ 22,304,480)

(₱ 26,462,894)

9,631,045
–
(1,393)

9,525,120
350,000
(27,884)

1,667

(603)

(12,673,161)

(16,616,261)

287,781
(109,117)

(1,701,877)
(165,880)

6,123,491
(6,371,006)
1,393
(163,131)
(6,532,744)

(337,422)
(18,821,440)
27,884
(32,182)
(18,825,738)
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(Carryforward)
2020
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Collections from related parties (Note 16)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value at FVOCI
Acquisition of property and equipment (Note 13)
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM A FINANCING ACTIVITY
Advances received from related
parties (Note 16)
Increase in deposit for future stocks subscription
Net cash provided by financing activities

₱ 3,809,486
–
–

₱ 307,557,386
2,190,000
(316,854,979)

3,809,486

(7,107,593)

2,766,663
–
2,766,663

4,017,179
10,500,000
14,517,179

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT

(1,667)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENT

41,738

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR (Note 6)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
AT END OF PERIOD (Note 6)
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2019

603

(11,415,549)

1,320,074

12,531,445

₱ 1,361,812

₱ 1,115,896
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GREENERGY HOLDINGS INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Amounts in Philippine Pesos)

1.

Corporate Information
Greenergy Holdings Incorporated (“GHI” or the Parent Company) was registered and
incorporated with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on
January 29, 1992 as MUSX Corporation to primarily engage in the manufacture and sale of
semiconductor products. In 2011, the SEC approved the amendment of its Articles of
Incorporation to change the registered name to Greenergy Holdings Incorporated. The
Parent Company’s shares are publicly-listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange (“PSE”).
The Parent Company’s primary purpose is to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and
own, hold, use, sell, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge or otherwise dispose of real or
personal property of every kind and description, including shares of stocks, bonds,
debentures, notes, evidence of indebtedness, marketable securities, deposit substitutes in
any valid currency, and other securities or obligations of any corporation or corporations,
association or associations, domestic or foreign, for whatever lawful purpose or purposes
the same may have been organized and to pay therefore in money or by exchanging
therefore stocks, bonds, or other evidence of indebtedness or securities of this or any other
corporation, stocks, bonds, debentures, contracts, or obligations, to receive, collect, and
dispose of the interest, dividends, proceeds and income arising from such property, and to
possess and exercise in respect therefore all voting powers of any stock so owned, provided
that the corporation shall not engage as stock brokers or dealers in securities.
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
involved in diversified industries such as renewable energy system, agriculture and real
estate, information technology and waste management.
The Parent Company’s registered address and principal place of business is at 54 National
Road, Dampol II-A, Pulilan Bulacan. The Parent Company’s business address is at Unit 112
Cedar Mansion II, #7 Street Jose Maria Escriva Drive, Ortigas Center, Barangay San
Antonio, Pasig City.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and the
following subsidiaries:
Ownership

Subsidiary
Winsun Green Ventures, Inc.
(WGVI)
Agrinurture Development
Holdings, Inc. (ADHI)

Country of
Incorporation
Philippines
Philippines

Sunchamp Real Estate
Development Corp. (SREDC) Philippines
Lite Speed Technologies, Inc.
(LSTI)
Philippines
Total Waste Management
Recovery System, Inc.
(TWMRSI)
Philippines

Nature of
Principal Place
Business
of Business
Renewable
Energy System Pulilan, Bulacan
Investment
Holding
Makati City
Real Estate and
Agriculture
Information
Technology
Waste
Management
Facility

2020

2019

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Makati City

62.39%

62.39%

Makati City

51.00%

51.00%

Pulilan, Bulacan

51.00%

51.00%

-2Going Concern
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which
assumes that the Group will be able to continue towards increasing revenues and improving
operations despite significant losses incurred over the years. The Group shall continue to
expand its core business and increase coverage in various investments in diversified
industries such as, but not limited to, renewable energy, real estate, agriculture, waste
management facility and information technology.
On April 11, 2019, the Parent Company entered into an International Distributorship
Agreement (IDA) with Hanergy Thin Film Power Asia Pacific Limited (Hanergy). Hanergy is
engaged in the business of manufacturing and selling solar-powered related products.
Under the Agreement, the Parent Company is appointed as Hanergy’s distributor in the
Philippines for the promotion and sale of all Hanergy solar products such as, but not limited
to, the new and innovative Film Flat SOLARtile. The Agreement has a term of one (1) year,
with an option to renew for another year upon expiration of the original term. On April 10,
2020, the Agreement was extended for a period of thirty (30) days or until May 10, 2020.
On May 11, 2020, the parties mutually agreed to have the Parent Company, through its
wholly-owned subsidiary, WGVI, to continue as distributor of Hanergy’s solar products in
the Philippines, on even date, WGVI and Hanergy executed an IDA. The Agreement has a
term of one (1) year with an option to renew for another one (1) year.
On July 17, 2019, the Parent Company also entered into a Memorandum of Agreement with
RYM Business Management Corp. (“RYM”) and certain landowners in connection with an
investment in Prime Media Holdings, Inc. (“Prime”). Under the MOA, properties in, among
others, the Province of Rizal will be invested, infused and contributed to Prime in exchange
for primary common shares to be issued from the latter’s unissued authorized capital stock
(the “Investment”). The Investment is subject to verification and validation by RYM of the
titles and ownership rights of the landowners. On October 15, 2019, the Parties agreed to
the extension of the prescribed periods provided in the Agreement. However, due to the
imposition of the community quarantine in Luzon on March 16, 2020, the parties were not
able to finalize the due diligence and complete the appraisal report within the prescribed
period. In view thereof, on July 1, 2020, the parties have agreed to further extend the
following periods in relation to the Agreement:
1.
2.
3.

An additional period of one hundred eighty (180) days from July 1, 2020 for the
validation and verification of titles and the issuance of the appraisal reports;
An additional period of two hundred ten (210) days from July 1, 2020 to
execute the first (1st) tranche of the Investment; and
An additional period of two hundred forty (240) days from July 1, 2020 to
execute the second (2nd) tranche of the Investment.

On January 30, 2019, the Parent Company entered into a Memorandum of Agreement
(“MOA”) with Thebizlink Philippines, Inc. and Thebizlink Co. Ltd. (Thebizlink Group) for the
development of a transport hub, smart-farming agriculture area, smart-city commercial
and/or mixed-use developments and other related developments (the “Project”). Under the
MOA, within ninety (90) days from the execution thereof, Thebizlink Group shall provide the
Parent Company a funding facility in the initial amount of 350 million US Dollars, provided,
that the legal, financial and technical due diligence on the Project to be conducted by
Thebizlink Group will not result in any material adverse findings involving the Project. The
funding facility will have a term of five (5) years with a fixed interest rate of 3% per
annum. On the fifth anniversary of the execution of the funding facility, the Parent
Company has the option to convert the loan into equity. On June 10, 2019, the terms and
conditions of the MOA was extended until July 10, 2019. In July 2019, the Company has
decided to terminate the MOA in view of Thebizlink Group’s failure to comply with its
obligation under the MOA within the prescribed period.

-3On September 9, 2020, the Parent Company approved the incorporation of Yakuru Group
Pty. Limited (“YGPL”) under the laws of Australia, wherein the Parent Company shall hold
fifty-one percent (51%) equity interest. This will expand the investment portfolio of the
Parent Company to include biotechnology. YGPL is a proprietary company limited by
shares. YGPL shall venture into biotechnology with primary focus on development and
marketing of medicinal hemp globally.
Also, the Group has started an active campaign to gain new clients as well as to revive
previous relationships through marketing and selling activities in the Philippines and
overseas. With these investments, the management of the Group assessed that the going
concern assumption remains to be appropriate as the Group continues to generate
sufficient cash flows to sustain operations and complete its current and future plans.
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future
effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amount and classification of
liabilities that may result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Trading Suspension
On May 13, 2015, the Parent Company requested for a voluntary suspension of the trading
of its securities in the PSE. The request was filed to prevent any unusual volatility in the
trading of the Parent Company’s securities that may cause investor panic as a result of a
news article on the inclusion of certain bank accounts of the Parent Company in a freeze
order issued by the Court of Appeals (CA). On said date, the PSE suspended the trading of
the Parent Company’s securities until further notice.
In a Correspondence dated September 26, 2018, the PSE lifted the trading suspension and
on November 5, 2018, the shares in the Parent Company resumed trading in the stock
exchange (see Note 29).
Subsidiaries
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are as follows:
WGVI
WGVI was incorporated on June 22, 2012 with the primary purpose engaging in the
business of renewable energy projects. In 2014, WGVI’s AFS investment amounting to
=22.5
P
million was fully provided for impairment. In addition, WGVI has a capital deficiency
amounting to =66.81
P
million as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
On February 22, 2019, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved the Parent Company’s
additional investment to WGVI amounting to =100
P
million to finance the latter in its “green”
projects involving solar power and liquefied natural gas.
On May 11, 2020, WGVI executed an International Distributorship Agreement
(“Agreement”) with Hanergy Thin Film Power Asia Pacific Limited to be the latter’s
distributor of its solar products in the Philippines. The Agreement has a term of one (1)
year, with an option to renew for another year upon expiration of the original term.
As at reporting date, WGVI has not yet started its commercial operations.
ADHI
On June 17, 2014, ADHI was incorporated to serve as the Group’s holding company for its
agricultural portfolio. However, it has not yet started its commercial operations as at
reporting date. Accordingly, the Parent Company’s investment in ADHI was provided with
full impairment provision.
SREDC
On January 17, 2013, SREDC entered into an agreement with a third party for the transfer
of all the rights, titles and interest over a 150-hectare land in Rosario, Batangas, where a
planned project for a self-sustaining agri-tourism park (the Park) will be located
(see Note 8). As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, operations resulted to
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P 19.0 million and =42.5
P
million, respectively. Accordingly, the Parent
Company’s investment in SREDC was provided with impairment allowance amounting to
=7.3
P
million in 2019.
LSTI
LSTI was registered with the SEC on August 14, 2014 to engage in the business of
information and communications technology. However, it has not yet started commercial
operations as at reporting date. Accordingly, the Parent Company’s investment in LSTI was
provided with full impairment provision.
TWMRSI
TMWRSI is a domestic corporation engaged in the business of building, operating and
managing waste recovery facilities, and waste management systems within the Philippines.
The operation of its facilities is geared towards efficient, hygienic and economical collection,
segregation, recycling, composting, filling, disposing, treating and managing of household,
office, commercial and industrial garbage.
In 2013, the Parent Company advanced =235.0
P
million to TWMRSI, which was used to
acquire machinery and equipment and steel structure for the latter’s waste recycling project
located at Santiago Street, Barangay Lingunon, Valenzuela City and which was initially
expected to be in full operation in 2014. However, TWMRSI has not started the assembly
and installation of the parts as it is still finalizing the arrangement for the site where the
project will be located.
In addition, TWMRSI has a capital deficiency amounted to =
P 233.8 million as at
September30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. Due to these circumstances, the Parent
Company’s investment and advances to TWMRSI were provided with full impairment
allowance.
TWMRSI has not yet started its commercial operations as at reporting date.
YGPL
YGPL is incorporated under the laws of Australia wherein the Parent Company holds fiftyone percent (51%) equity interest. YGPL is a proprietary company limited by shares. YGPL
shall venture into biotechnology with primary focus on development and marketing of
medicinal hemp globally.
Approval of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements as at and for the period ended September 30, 2020
were approved and authorized for issue by the BOD on November 11, 2020.

2.

Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on a historical cost
basis except for financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
which is measured at fair value. The Group presents all items of income and expenses in a
single statement of comprehensive income. These consolidated financial statements and
notes are presented in Philippine Pesos, which is the Group’s functional and presentation
currency under the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). All values are rounded
to the nearest peso, unless otherwise indicated.
Statement of Compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with
PFRS. PFRS includes the statements named PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS)
and Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC), Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC)
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which have been
approved by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) and adopted by SEC.
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The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the accounts of the Parent
Company and its subsidiaries where the Parent Company has control.
Specifically, the Parent controls an investee if it has:

power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee);

exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
When the Parent has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, it
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and

the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
The Parent re-assesses its control over an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and
cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.
Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like
transactions and other events in similar circumstances.
Intercompany balances and
transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealized profits and losses are
eliminated.
When the Parent loses control over a subsidiary, at the date when control is lost, it:
(a) derecognizes the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their
carrying amount; (b) derecognizes the carrying amount of any noncontrolling interests
including any components of other comprehensive income attributable to them;
(c) recognizes the fair value of the consideration received; (d) recognizes the fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at its fair value; (e) accounts for all
amounts recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary on the
same basis as would be required if the parent had directly disposed of the related assets
and liabilities; and (f) recognizes any resulting difference as gain or loss in profit or loss
attributable to the Parent.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the
Group using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used
by other members of the Group.
Non-controlling interests represent interests in certain subsidiaries not held by the Parent
Company and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss) and consolidated statements of changes in equity and within equity in the
consolidated statements of financial position, separately from equity attributable to the
equity holders of Parent Company.
Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and the net assets not held
by the Group. Transactions with noncontrolling interest are accounted for using the entity
concept method, whereby the difference between the consideration and the book value of
the share of the net assets acquired is recognized as an equity transaction.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for
as an equity transaction.
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3.

Changes in Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies
The following are standards, amendments and improvements
Interpretation which became effective in 2019.


to PFRS, PAS

and

PFRS 16, “Leases”
Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their lease as either operating or
finance leases in accordance with PAS 17. Rather, leases will apply the single-asset
model, wherein lessees will recognize the assets and the related liabilities for most
leases in their balance sheets and, subsequently, will depreciate the lease assets and
recognize interest on the lease liabilities in their profit or loss. Leases with a term of 12
months or less or which the underlying asset is of low value are exempted from these
requirements.
The new standard did not have significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.



Amendments to PFRS 9, Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
The narrow-scope amendments made to PFRS 9 Financial Instruments in 2017 enable
entities to measure certain pre-payable financial assets with negative compensation at
amortized cost. These assets, which include some loan and debt securities, would
otherwise have to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.
To qualify for amortized cost measurement, the negative compensation must be
‘reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract’ and the asset must be
held within a ‘held to collect’ business model.
The amendments have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.



Amendments to PAS 28, Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
The amendments clarify the accounting for long-term interests in an associate or joint
venture, which in substance form part of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture, but to which equity accounting is not applied. Entities must account for such
interests under PFRS 9 Financial Instruments before applying the loss allocation and
impairment requirements in PAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures.
The amendments have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.



Amendment to PAS 19, Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
The amendments clarify the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement occurs and specifies how companies determine pension expenses when
changes to a defined benefit pension plan occur. The amendments require the Group to
use the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to determine current service
cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the
plan.
The amendments are applied prospectively to plan amendments, settlements or
curtailments that occur on or after the beginning of the annual period in which
amendments to PAS 19 are first applied. The amendments to PAS 19 must be applied
to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, but earlier application is
permitted.
The amendments have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.



Amendments to PFRS 3, Business Combinations and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements
The amendments clarify how a Group accounts for obtaining control (or joint control) of
a business that is a joint operation if the Group already holds an interest in that
business. On PFRS 3, the Group remeasures its previously held interest in a joint
operation when it obtains control of the business. On PFRS 11, the Group does not
remeasure its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains joint control
of the business. The amendments are effective for business combinations with
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January 1, 2019.
The amendments have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.


Amendments to PAS 12, Income Tax Consequence of Payments on Financial
Instruments Classified as Equity
The amendments clarify that the requirements in paragraph 52B of PAS 12 apply to all
income tax consequences of dividends.
The Group accounts for all income tax
consequences of dividend payments in the same way. The amendments should be
applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 to the income tax
consequences of dividends recognized on or after the beginning of the earliest
comparative period.
The amendments have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.



Amendments to PAS 23, Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization
The amendments to PAS 23 clarify which borrowing costs are eligible for capitalization
in particular circumstances. The Group treats as part of general borrowings any
borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended
use or sale.
The amendments have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

New and Amended Standards Issued but not yet Effective
The standards and amendments which have been issued but are not yet effective are
discussed below and in the subsequent pages. The Group will adopt these standards and
amendments when these become effective and applicable to the Group. Except as
otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these new and amended
standards to have a significant impact on its financial statements.
Effective in 2020

Amendments to PFRS 3, Definition of a Business
The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify the minimum requirements to be a business, remove
the assessment of a market participant’s ability to replace missing elements and narrow
the definition of outputs. The amendments also add guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and add illustrative examples. An optional fair value
concentration test is introduced which permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.
An entity applies those amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2020 with earlier application permitted.


Amendments to PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements and PAS 8, Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, Definition of Material
The amendments refine the definition of material in PAS 1 and align the definitions used
across PFRSs and other pronouncements.
They are intended to improve the
understanding of the existing requirements rather than to significantly impact an
entity’s materiality judgments.
An entity applies those amendments prospectively for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2020, with earlier application permitted.

Effective in 2021

PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
This standard establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. The objective of
PFRS 17 is to ensure that an entity provides relevant information that faithfully
represents those contracts. This information gives a basis for users of financial
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position, financial performance and cash flows.
Deferred


PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements
in PFRS 10 and those in PAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that
full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is
housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction
involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a
subsidiary.

No mandatory effective date
• PFRS 9, Financial Instruments (Hedge Accounting and amendments to PFRS 9, PFRS 7
and PAS 39)
The Group will continue to assess the relevance and impact of the above standards,
amendments and improvements to standards, and interpretations. The revised disclosures
on the financial statements required by the above standards and interpretations will be
included in the Group’s financial statements when these are adopted.

4.

Summary of Significant Accounting and Financial Reporting Policies
The principal accounting and financial reporting policies adopted in preparing the financial
statements of the Group are summarized below and in the succeeding pages the policies
have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated.
Current and Noncurrent Classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position based on
current or noncurrent classification.
An






asset is current when it is:
expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle,
held primarily for the purpose of trading,
expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period,
expected to be settled on demand, or
cash and cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as noncurrent.
noncurrent assets.

Deferred tax assets are classified as

A liability is current when:

it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle,

it is held primarily for the purpose of trading,

it is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period,

it is expected to be settled on demand, or

there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.
All other liabilities are considered noncurrent.
noncurrent liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are classified as
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the
asset or transfer the liability takes place either:



In the principal market for the asset or liability; or
In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a nonfinancial asset takes
into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset
in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:




Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the assets or liabilities and
the level of the fair value hierarchy.
Day 1 Difference
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes
the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a Day 1 difference) in the
statements of comprehensive income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type
of asset or liability. In cases where an unobservable data is used, the difference between
the transaction price and model value is only recognized in the statements of
comprehensive income (loss) when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is
derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of
recognizing the “Day 1” difference amount.
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Date of recognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or liability in the statements of financial position
when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. In the case of a
regular way to purchase or sale of financial assets, recognition and derecognition, as
applicable, is done using the settlement date accounting.
Initial recognition
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus or minus, in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL, if any, are expensed in profit or loss.
Determination of fair value
Fair value is determined by preference to the transaction price or other market prices. If
such market prices are not reliably determinable, the fair value is determined by using
appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value model
where the fair value of the consideration is estimated as the sum of all future cash
payments or receipts, discounted using the prevailing market rates of interest for a similar
instrument with similar maturities. Other valuation techniques include comparing to similar
instruments for which market observable prices exist; recent arm’s length market
transaction; option pricing model and other relevant valuation models.
Classification of financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

Those to be measured subsequently at fair value [either through other comprehensive
income (OCI) or through profit or loss], and

Those to be measured at amortized cost.
Financial assets at FVOCI
Financial assets at FVOCI comprise:
o Equity instruments
Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably
elected at initial recognition to be recognized in this category. These are strategic
investments and the Group considers this classification to be more relevant. Gains and
losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss.
Dividends are recognized as other income in the statements of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from such
proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are
not subject to impairment assessment.
The Group classifies its investment in shares of stocks as financial asset at FVOCI as at
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (see Note 10).
o

Debt instruments
Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and
the objective of the Group’s business model is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets. For debt instruments at FVOCI, interest income,
foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the
statements of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognized in OCI.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to
profit or loss.

The Group has no debt instruments at FVOCI as at September 30, 2020 and December
31, 2019.
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The Group classifies the following financial assets at FVPL:
o
debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortized cost or
FVOCI
o
equity investments that are held for trading, and
o
equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognize fair value gains
and losses through OCI.
Financial assets at FVPL are carried in the statements of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognized in the statements of comprehensive income. This
category includes derivative instruments and listed equity investments which the Group had
not irrevocably elected to classify at FVOCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are also
recognized as other income in the statements of profit or loss when the right of payment
has been established.
The Group has no financial assets at FVPL as at September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019.
Financial assets at amortized cost
The amortized cost of a financial asset is the present value of future cash receipts
discounted at the effective interest rate. The amortized cost of a financial asset is the
amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest method
of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and minus any
reduction (directly or through the use of an allowance account) for impairment or
uncollectibility.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as FVPL:
o
it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and
o
its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
This classification includes the Group’s cash and cash equivalent, nontrade receivables and
due from related parties as September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019(see Notes 6, 7
and 16).
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss
or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to
account for the equity investment at FVOCI.
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets
• Debt instruments
There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:
o

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance
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derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains
(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses, if
any, are presented as separate line item in the statements of profit or loss. Shortterm receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at their invoice amounts
or expected amounts of settlement without discounting, when the effect of not
discounting is immaterial.

•

o

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognized in other gains or losses. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains or losses and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the statements of profit or loss.

o

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented net within other
gains and losses in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the
Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses
to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognizes an expected credit loss (ECL) for all debt instruments not held at
FVPL. ECLs are based in the difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows of that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
In measuring ECL, the Group must reflect:

An unbiased evaluation of a range of possible outcomes and their probabilities of
occurrence;

Discounting for the time value of money; and

Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month
ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
The Group may apply the simplified approach which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the trade receivable and contract assets, if any. It also
allows the Group to use a simplified “provision matrix” for calculating expected losses. The
provision matric is based on the Group’s historical default rates over the expected life of the
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Forward-looking
information are considered as economic inputs, such as gross domestic product (GDP) or
gross national income (GNI), exchange rate, interest rate, inflation rate and other economic
indicators.
For cash in banks and cash equivalent, nontrade receivables and due from related parties,
the Group applies the general approach in calculating ECLs. The Group recognizes a loss
allowance based on ether 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk on its cash in banks, nontrade receivables and due
from related parties since initial recognition.
For trade receivables, if any, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forwardlooking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities in the following categories:

Financial Liabilities at FVPL
Financial liabilities are classified in this category if these result from trading activities or
derivatives transactions that are not accounted for as accounting hedges, or the Group
elects to designate a financial liability under this category. Financial liabilities at FVPL
are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including interest expense, are
recognized in profit or loss.
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Group has no financial liabilities
at FVPL.


Financial liabilities at amortized cost
This category pertains to financial liabilities that are not held for trading or not
designated as at FVPL upon inception of the liability. These include liabilities arising
from operations (e.g. payables excluding statutory regulated payables) or borrowing
(e.g. long-term debt). The financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value less
directly attributable transaction costs.
After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using effective interest method. These include liabilities arising from
operations and borrowings. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Any gains and losses on derecognition are also recognized
in profit or loss.
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, this category includes the Group’s
trade and other payables and due to related parties (see Notes 15 and 16).

Short-term payables with no stated interest rate are measured at their invoice amounts or
expected amounts of settlement without discounting, when the effect of not discounting is
immaterial.
The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial liabilities are acquired and
whether they are quoted in an active market. Management determines the classification at
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, reevaluates this classification at every
reporting date.
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Derecognition of Financial Instruments
Financial assets
A financial asset is derecognized when (1) the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
instruments expire, (2) the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but
has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement, or (3) the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset and either has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows of an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of an asset nor transferred control of the assets, the asset is
recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
On disposal of debt investments, any related balance within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified
to profit or loss. On disposal of equity investments, any related balance within the FVOCI
reserve is reclassified to retained earnings.
Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expired. Where the existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.
Classification of Financial Instrument between Debt and Equity
Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangement. Interest relating to a financial instrument or a component
that is a financial liability is reported as expenses.
A financial instrument is classified as debt if it provides for a contractual obligation to:
(a) deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or (b) exchange financial assets
or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to
the Group; or (c) satisfy the obligation other than by exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
other financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares.
If the Group does not have an unconditional right to avoid delivering cash or another
financial asset to settle its contractual obligation, the obligation meets the definition of a
financial liability.
Offsetting Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
Group’s consolidated statements of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not
generally the case with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are
presented gross in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position.
Cash and Cash Equivalent
Cash pertains to cash on hand and in banks which are stated at face value. Cash equivalent
are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with original maturities of three months or less from dates of acquisition and that are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. These are initially recognized at face
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received less any impairment).
Advances for Waste Recycling Project
Advances for waste recycling project are initially recorded at cost and subsequently stated at
cost less any impairment in value. The advances are mainly for the acquisitions of steel
structures, machinery and equipment to be used for the construction of waste recycling
facilities. The facilities will be transferred to property and equipment and shall be subject to
depreciation and impairment upon their completion and put into operation.
Advances to Officers and Employees
Advances represent amount advanced to officers and employees for business expenses
subject for liquidation on which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the Group
within the normal operating cycle or within 12 months form the end of financial reporting
period. These are initially recorded at actual cash advanced to officers and employees and
are subsequently applied against actual purchases of related assets, costs or expenses
incurred.
Other Current Assets
This account comprises the following:


Prepayments are costs and expenses which are paid in advance of
them and regularly recurring in the normal course of the business.
are initially recorded at actual amount paid for expenses and are
benefits of the payments are received by the Group and are charged
applicable period of expiration.

actually incurring
Prepaid expenses
amortized as the
to expense in the



Input value added tax (VAT) represents VAT imposed on the Group by its suppliers for
the acquisition of goods and services as required by the Philippine taxation laws and
regulations. Input VAT is presented as current asset and will be used to offset against
the Group’s current output VAT liabilities, if any. Input VAT is initially recognized at
cost (actual amount paid for) and subsequently stated at its net recoverable amount
(unutilized amount of input VAT less impairment). Input VAT that is considered not
recoverable permanently is derecognized and written-off to expense.

Deposits for Land Acquisition
Deposit for land acquisition mainly represents usufruct rights over a property. This is
initially recorded at the cash amount deposited and subsequently stated at cost, less
impairment losses, if any.
Investment in Associate
Investment in associate (Investee Company) is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting. An associate is an entity in which the Group holds 20% or more ownership or,
has the ability to significantly influence the Investee Company’s operating activities. An
investment is accounted for using the equity method from the day it becomes an associate.
On acquisition of investment, the excess of the cost of investment over the investor’s share
in the net fair value of the Investee Company’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill and included in the carrying amount of the investment
and not amortized. Any excess of the investor’s share of the net fair value of the Investee
Company’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the
investment is excluded from the carrying amount of the investment, and is included as
income in the determination of the share in the earnings of the Investee Company.
Under the equity method, the investments in the Investee Company are carried in the
consolidated statements of financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share in the net assets of the Investee Company, less any impairment in values.
The consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) reflect the share of the results
of the operations of the Investee Company.
The Group’s share of post-acquisition
movements in the Investee Company’s equity reserves is recognized directly in equity.
Equity in net losses of an associate is recognized only up to the extent of acquisition costs.
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received.
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the Investee
Company are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the investee company and for
unrealized losses to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred. Dividends received are treated as a reduction of the carrying value of the
investment.
The Group shall discontinue the use of the equity method from the date when it ceases to
have significant influence over an associate and shall account for the retained investment in
accordance with PFRS 9 from that date, provided the associate does not become a
subsidiary or a joint venture as defined in PAS 31. On the loss of significant influence, the
Group shall measure at fair value any investment the investor retains in the former
associate.
The Group shall recognize in profit or loss any difference between:
a. The fair value of any retained investment and any proceeds from disposing of the part
interest in the associate; and
b. The carrying amount of the investment at the date when significant influence is lost.
When an investment ceases to be an associate and is accounted for in accordance with
PFRS 9, the fair value of the investment at the date when it ceases to be an associate shall
be recognized as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in accordance with
PFRS 9.
If the Group loses significant influence over an associate, the associate shall account for all
amounts recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if the associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive
income by an associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant influence over the associate.
If a Group’s ownership interest in an associate is reduced, the investor shall reclassify to
profit or loss only a proportionate amount of the gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive income.
The reporting dates of the associate and the Group are identical and the associate’s
accounting policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.
Biological Assets and Agricultural Produce
Biological assets or agricultural produce are recognized only when the Group controls the
assets as a result of past events, it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the assets will flow to the Group and the fair value or cost of the assets can be
measured reliably.
The Group measures its biological assets at cost on initial recognition and at fair value less
estimated costs to sell at the end of each reporting date. The Group uses the income
approach, particularly the present value method, in computing for the fair value of the
biological assets. This approach reflects the expectations about the cash flows from the
biological assets from reporting period date to harvest period. The fair value measurement
is categorized at level 2, which uses inputs that are not based on observable market data.
The cash inflow would typically be the present value of the forecasted gross revenue from
sale of harvested biological assets, which is a function of the price, expected production and
the applicable discount rate given the nature of the biological assets. The forecasted gross
revenue will be reduced by the forecasted costs, which will be the incremental, cost to sell
and spoilage costs. The excess of the forecasted gross revenue over the forecasted costs
will be the fair value of the biological assets. Cost to sell are the incremental costs directly
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taxes. Subsequent gains or losses arising from changes in fair value less cost to sell of the
assets, resulting from fluctuations in population, growth, price and other factors, are
credited or charged to profit or loss for the period. Costs incurred in maintaining or
enhancing the biological assets are recognized as expenses when incurred.
Gains or losses arising from the changes in fair value less estimated point-of-sale costs of a
biological asset are included in the Group’s statements of comprehensive income (loss) for
the period in which they arise.
Investment Properties
Investment property pertains to properties held for capital appreciation. These are initially
recorded at cost, including transaction cost. The carrying amount includes the cost of
replacing part of an existing property at the time the costs are incurred if the recognition
criteria are met, and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of investment property.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is carried at cost less any impairment
in value.
Investment property is derecognized when disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and there is no future economic benefit expected to arise
from the continued use of the properties. Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of
said properties are recognized in the statements of profit or loss in the year of retirement
or disposal.
Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a
change in use, evidenced by: (a) commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property; (b) commencement of development with
a view to sale, for a transfer from investment property to inventories; (c) end of owner
occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property; or
(d) commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from inventories
to investment property. Transfers to or from investment properties are measured at the
carrying value of the assets transferred.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition,
these are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Land
is stated at cost less any impairment in value.
The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price or construction cost
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance including the cost of day-to-day
servicing of an item of property and equipment, are normally charged to operations in the
period in which the costs are incurred. In situation where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of an item of property and equipment beyond its originally
assessed standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of
property and equipment.
Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the following estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Land improvements
Building and improvements
Transportation equipment and machineries
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Bearer assets

Years
15
10
5
5
5
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are reviewed periodically to ensure the period and method of depreciation are consistent
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment.
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the Group’s consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss) in the year the asset is derecognized. Transfers to or from
property and equipment are measured at carrying value of the assets transferred.
Fully depreciated assets that are still being used in the operations continue to be carried in
the accounts.
Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
An assessment is made at each financial reporting period to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment of nonfinancial assets. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
the Group makes an estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down
to its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cashgenerating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Estimating the value in use
amount requires management to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows and
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by a credit to current operations
to the extent that it does not restate the asset to a carrying amount in excess of what
would have been determined (net of any accumulated depreciation and amortization) had
no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.
Related Party Transactions and Relationships
Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the
Group and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged. Parties are considered
to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. These parties
include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Group; (b) associates;
(c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group
that gives them significant influence over the Group and close members of the family of any
such individual; and (d) other related parties such as directors, officers and stockholders.
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the
substance of the relationship and not merely on the legal form.
Refundable Deposits
Refundable deposit refers to the security deposit received from a lessee for the lease of the
Group’s property. This is classified as financial liability measured at amortized cost. In
case the future cash flows for purposes of computing amortization cannot be readily
determined and reasonably measured, deposits are carried at cost less any impairment in
value.
Equity

Capital stock is determined using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Additional paid-in capital includes any premiums received on the initial issuance of
capital stocks. Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are
deducted from additional paid-in capital, net of any related income tax benefits.

Subscriptions receivable pertains to the uncollected portion of subscribed and paid, or
issued.
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Cumulative fair value gain (loss) on fair market value of financial asset at FVOCI are
recognized immediately in other comprehensive income in equity in the period in which
they arise and cannot be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Retained earnings (deficit) include all current and prior period results of operations as
disclosed in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

Deposit for Future Stocks Subscription
Deposit for future stocks subscription represents funds received by the Group from existing
and potential stockholders to be applied as payment for subscriptions of unissued shares or
shares from an increase in authorized capital stock. Proceeds are recognized as equity
when all of the requirements set forth by the SEC have been met, otherwise, it is
recognized as a liability.
An entity shall classify deposit for future stocks subscription as part of equity if and only if,
all of the following elements are present as at the end of the period:

The unissued authorized capital stock of the entity is insufficient to cover the amount of
shares indicated in the contract;

There is BOD approval on the proposed increase in authorized capital stock;

There is stockholders’ approval of said proposed increase; and

The application for the approval of the proposed increase has been filed with the SEC.
Basic Earnings (Loss) per share (EPS)
EPS is determined by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the year, with retroactive adjustments for any stock
dividends declared.
Revenue Recognition
The Group recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the
customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
The Group applies the following five steps:
1. Identify the contract(s) with a customer;
2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract. Performance obligations are
promises in a contract to transfer to a customer goods or services that are distinct;
3. Determine the transaction price. The transaction price is the amount of consideration to
which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or
services to a customer. If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable
amount, an entity must estimate the amount of consideration to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to a customer;
4. Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation on the basis of the relative
stand-alone selling prices of each distinct good or service promised in the contract;
5. Recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a
promised good or service to a customer (which is when the customer obtains control of
that good or service). A performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time
(typically for promises to transfer goods to a customer) or over time (typically for
promises to transfer services to a customer). For a performance obligation satisfied
over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how
much revenue should be recognized as the performance obligation is satisfied.
The Group assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria in order to determine
if it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specific
revenue recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized:

Agri-tourism revenue is recognized when the related service is rendered.

Sale of fruits and vegetables in the ordinary course of business is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts, if any.

Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Gain on sale of asset is recognized when the sale transactions occur.

Interest income,which is presented net of final taxes paid or withheld, is recognized as
the interest accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the asset. Interest
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income from bank deposits is recognized on a time proportion basis on the principal
outstanding and at the rate applicable.
Realized gains and losses are recognized when the sale transaction occurs.
Other income is recognized when earned or realized.

Cost and Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognized in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income
(loss)when decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an
increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.
Employee Benefits


Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognized as expense in the period when the
economic benefits are given. Unpaid benefits at the end of the financial reporting
period are recognized as accrued expense while benefits paid in advance are recognized
as prepayment to the extent that it will lead to a reduction in future payments. Shortterm benefits given by the Group to its employees include salaries and wages, SSS,
PHIC and HDMF contributions, short-term compensated absences, bonuses and
nonmonetary benefits.



Retirement Benefits
The Group does not have a formal retirement benefit plan. However, the Group will
provide retirement benefits in compliance with Republic Act (RA) 7641. No actuarial
computations were obtained during the year as the amount of provisions for retirement
benefits will not materially affect the fair presentation of the financial statements
considering that there were no qualified employees as of reporting date.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine Pesos, which is
the Group’s functional and presentation currency. Items included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are measured using the functional currency. Transactions
in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate prevailing at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are restated at the functional currency rate of exchange as at the financial reporting date.
Gains or losses arising from these transactions and translations are recognized in the
Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Income Taxes
Income taxes represent the sum of the tax currently due and deferred tax.
Current tax
The tax currently due is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from
income as reported in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss)
because it excludes items of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current income tax is calculated using tax rate that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of each financial reporting period.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end
of each financial reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes and carry forward benefits of minimum
corporate income tax (MCIT).Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax liabilities
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measured using the tax rate that is expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realized or the liability is settled. The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at
the end of each financial reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is not probable
that sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets
to be utilized. Income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in
equity and not in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities.
Leases
Policies beginning January 1, 2019
The Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. To assess whether a
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified assets for a period of time, the
Group assesses whether, throughout the period of use, it has the right to obtain
substantially all the economic benefits from the use of the identified asset and the right to
direct the use of the asset. If the Group has the right to control the use of an identified
asset only for a portion of the term of the contract, the contract contains a lease for that
portion of the term.
Group as a lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the lease asset and recognized on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.
Policies prior to January 1, 2019
The Group determines whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease based on the
substance of the arrangement. It makes an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement
conveys a right to use the asset.
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the term of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases. Rental expenses under operating leases are recognized as expense in the
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
A reassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:
a.
There is a change in contractual terms, other than renewal or extension of the
arrangement;
b.
A renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or
extension was initially included in the lease term;
c. There is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on specified
asset; and
d.
There is a substantial change in the asset.
Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date
when the change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or
(d) above, and at the date of renewal or extension period for scenario (b).
Group as lessor
Leases which do not transfer from the Group substantially all the risks and benefits of
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Lease income from operating
leases is recognized as income on a monthly basis as this accrue in accordance with the
substance of the contractual agreement. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.
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Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs incurred during the
construction period on loans and advances used to finance construction and property
development are capitalized as part of Construction in progress included under “Property
and Equipment” account in the consolidated statements of financial position. Capitalization
of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and
expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Capitalization of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use are complete. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recorded. Capitalized borrowing cost is based on applicable weighted
average borrowing rate.
All other borrowing costs are charged to operations in the period in which they are incurred.
Segment Reporting
For management purposes, the Group is organized into operating segments according to
the nature of the sales and the services provided, with each segment representing a
strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Financial
information on business segments is presented in the consolidated financial statements
(see Note 27).
Provisions
Provisions are recognized only when the following conditions are met: a) there exists a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past event; b) it is probable
(i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation; and c) reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each end of financial reporting period and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. They are
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is
remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefit is probable.
Events after the End of Financial Reporting Period
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s position at the
end of financial reporting period, if any, are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. However, post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements when material.

5.

Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with PFRS
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. The judgments,
estimates and assumptions used in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are
based upon management’s evaluation of relevant facts and circumstances as at date of the
consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from such estimates, and such
estimates will be adjusted accordingly.
The following is a summary of these significant estimates and judgments and the related
impact and associated risks on the consolidated financial statements.
Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements:
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Assessment of Going Concern
Management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as going
concern and is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the
foreseeable future. Furthermore, management of the Group assessed that the going
concern assumption remains to be appropriate as the Group continues to generate
sufficient cash flows to sustain operations and complete its current and future plans.
Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on a going
concern basis (see Note 1).
Determination of Control
The Group determines control when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with an entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the equity. The Group regularly reassesses whether its control over an
investee in facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control as discussed in Note 2. The Group determined that it
exercises control on all of its subsidiaries as it has all the elements of control listed
above.



Classification of Financial Instruments and Measurement Criteria
The Group classifies financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
assets contractual cash flows characteristics of the Group’s business model for
managing them. The Group determines the classification at initial recognition and
reevaluates this designation at every reporting date.



Operating and Finance Leases
The Group has entered into a lease agreement as a lessor. Critical judgment was
exercised by management to distinguish the lease agreement as either an operating or
finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and rewards of
ownership of the properties covered by the agreement. Failure to make the right
judgment will result in either overstatement or understatement of assets and liabilities.
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Group’s lease agreement is an
operating lease.



Determination of Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Group carries certain instruments at fair value and discloses also the fair values of
financial instruments, which requires extensive use of accounting estimates and
judgment. While significant components of fair value measurement were determined
using verifiable objective evidence, the amount of changes in fair value would differ if
the Group utilized different valuation methodologies and assumptions. Any changes in
fair value of these financial assets and liabilities would affect profit or loss and equity.
The summary of the carrying values and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments
as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 is shown in Note 24.



Assessment of Retirement Liability
Management has reviewed its obligation for retirement benefit costs in view of the
requirements under Republic Act (RA) 7641. Management has assessed that the current
employees have not meet the minimum requirements under RA 7641 to be eligible for
retirement benefits. Accordingly, no provision for retirement benefit costs is recognized
in the financial statements as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Management, however, will continue to have a yearly assessment of its obligation, if
any, to pay retirement benefit costs.



Determination of Functional Currency
Based on the economic substance of the underlying circumstances relevant to the
Group, the functional currency of the Group has been determined to be the Philippine
Peso. The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary economic environment in
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properties, services, and investments and the costs of providing the services and of the
sold investments.
Estimates
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation at the
reporting date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:


Estimation of Allowance for Impairment of Financial Assets
The Group applies general approach for determining the expected credit losses of cash
in banks, nontrade receivables and due from related parties.
A credit loss is the difference between the cash flows that are expected to be received
discounted at the original effective interest rate and contractual cash flows in
accordance with the contract. The loss allowance for financial assets are based on the
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. In addition, management’s
assessment of the credit risk on the financial assets as at the reporting date is high.
Accordingly, additional impairment of due from related parties amounting to =
P 23.7
million were recognized as at December 31, 2019 (see Note 16).
The Group’s allowance for impairment amounted to =
P 76.2 million as at September 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019(see Notes 7 and 16).
The carrying values of financial assets as at September 30, 2020 and December 31,
2019 are shown in Notes 6, 7 and 16.



Estimation of Impairment of Financial Asset at FVOCI
The Group carries the financial asset at fair value, which requires the use of accounting
estimates and judgment, in cases when active market quotes are not available, fair
value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of the
underlying net base of the instrument.
The amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group utilized different valuation
methods and assumptions. Any change in fair value of these financial assets would
affect other comprehensive income.
The carrying values of financial asset at FVOCI as at September 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 are shown in Note 10.



Estimation of Useful Lives of Property and Equipment
The useful life of each of the Group’s property and equipment is estimated based on the
period over which the asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is
based on a collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and
experience with similar assets, if any. The estimated useful life of each asset is
reviewed periodically and updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits
on the use of the asset. It is possible, however, that future results of operations could
be materially affected by changes in the amounts and timing of recorded expenses
brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. Any reduction in the
estimated useful lives of property and equipment would increase the Group’s recorded
operating expenses and decrease on the related asset accounts.
There are no changes in the useful lives of the property and equipment in 2020 and
2019.



Estimation of Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets
The Group reviews its nonfinancial assets included in advances to officers and
employees, other current assets, deposits for land acquisition, advances for waste
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value. This includes considering certain indications of impairment such as significant
changes in asset usage, significant decline in assets’ market value, obsolescence or
physical damage of an asset, plans in the real estate projects, significant
underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results
and significant negative industry or economic trends.
As described in the accounting policy, the Group estimates the recoverable amount as
the higher of the net selling price and value in use. In determining the present value of
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use of the
assets, the Group is required to make estimates and assumptions that may affect its
nonfinancial assets included in receivables, other current assets, deposits for land
acquisition, advances for waste recycling project, investment properties, property and
equipment.
The Group’s allowance for impairment loss for nonfinancial assets amounted to
=
P 239.8 million as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (see Notes 7, 9, 12
and 14).


Estimation of Deferred Tax Assets and Deferred Tax Liabilities
Significant judgment is required in determining provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
No deferred tax asset and liability was recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as management believes that these could not be utilized prior to its
expiration.



Estimation of Provisions for Contingencies
The Group is a party to certain lawsuits involving recoveries of sum of money arising
from the ordinary course of business. The estimate of the probable costs for the
resolution of possible claims has been developed in consultation with outside counsel
handling the Group’s defense in these matters and is based upon an analysis of
potential results. These are recognized in the books only when the claims are finally
settled or when judgment is rendered.
The Group has no provisions as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

6.

Cash and Cash Equivalent
This account consists of:
Savings and current deposits
Cash on hand
Time deposit

2020
=
P 1,311,812
50,000
–
=
P 1,361,812

2019
=1,270,074
P
50,000
–
=1,320,074
P

Savings and current accounts generally earn interest based on prevailing respective bank
deposit rates of less than 1% annually. Cash equivalent pertains to time deposit made for a
period of three months and earns interest at 2.75% which matured in February 2019.
Interest income on cash in banks and cash equivalent recognized in profit or loss in the
Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss amounted to =
P 1,393 in 2020 and
=27,884
P
in 2019.

- 26 Cash in banks denominated in foreign currency amounted to €500 with Peso equivalent of
=28,454
P
in 2020 and =28,176
P
and $1,078 with Peso equivalents of =
P 52,227 in 2020 and
=54,683
P
in 2019.
The balances have been translated at a rate of =56.91
P
to €1 as at September 30, 2020 and
=56.35
P
as at December 31, 2020 andP
=48.47 to US$1 as at September 30, 2020 and
=50.74
P
to US$1 as at December 31, 2019. Foreign exchange gain (loss) amounted to
(=1,667)
P
in 2020 and =
P 603 in 2019.
On May 11, 2015, the CA ordered the freezing of two (2) bank accounts of the Parent
Company. Thereafter, the said bank accounts with a total deposit of =
P 80,261 was
subsequently included in the civil forfeiture case docketed as Anti-Money Laundering
Council Case No. 15-007-53 pending with the Regional Trial Court (RTC) of Manila, Branch
53. The bank account became the subject of a Provisional Asset Preservation Order and
subsequently an Asset Preservation Order (APO) issued by the RTC on November 13, 2015
and December 15, 2015, respectively.
In an Order dated July 9, 2018 (Order), the RTC categorically ruled that “the funds in the
subject accounts of respondent Greenergy et al. are not related to the unlawful activity of
violation of R.A. 3019 and R.A. 7080”. Thus, bank account of the Parent Company and
SREDC was “ordered Discharged from the effects of the APO” dated December 31, 2015.
With the Order, which was immediately executory, the Parent Company regained access
and control over the Subject Bank Accounts (see Note 29).
Thereafter, the Petitioner, through the Office of the Solicitor General, filed a Motion for
Reconsideration (to the Order dated July 9, 2018) dated August 3, 2018 on even date to
which the Parent Company and SREDC filed its Comment/Opposition (to the Motion for
Reconsideration) dated December 11, 2018 on even date.
In this connection, the Petitioner has sixty (60) days from its receipt of the said Order
within which to assail the same through a petition for certiorari with the Court of Appeals.
As of date however, the Parent Company has not yet received any notice that the Petitioner
filed such a petition for certiorari. Considering the lapse of the reglementary period to file a
petition for certiorari, the Orders dated July 9, 2018 and July 1, 2019 are deemed final and
executory and a confirmatory certification will be obtained by the Parent Company and
SREDC.
As a consequence of the Order, the above-mentioned bank account of the Parent Company
remains to be discharged from the effects of the APO.
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7.

Receivables
This account consists of:

Nontrade receivables
Advances to officers and employees
Allowance for impairment loss:
Advances to officers and employees
Nontrade receivables

2020
=
P 252,028,894
4,612,470
256,641,364

2019
=
P 251,757,957
5,171,188
256,929,145

(3,479,936)
(1,253,070)
=
P 251,908,358

(3,479,936)
(1,253,070)
=
P 252,196,139

Nontrade receivables include an unsecured, noninterest-bearing receivable from
ThomasLloyd Cleantech Infrastructure Fund GMHB (TLCIF) amounting to =
P 250,142,630,
which was subsequently assigned by TLCIF to Zongshan Fucang Trade Co. Ltd. (ZFTC) on
December 29, 2014, subject to the consent of the Parent Company. Nontrade receivable
also includes rent receivable (see Note 18).
The Parent Company agreed to the assignment of receivables to ZFTC under the following
terms and conditions:
a.
b.

ZFTCL shall pay the nontrade receivables on or before December 31, 2016 in cash and
non-cash assets acceptable to the Parent Company; and
If the nontrade receivables will be paid with non-cash assets, the appraised value
thereof shall be determined by an independent appraiser mutually acceptable to ZFTC
and the Parent Company.

As at September 30, 2020, the nontrade receivables from ZFTC are not yet settled.
However, management assessed that these are still fully recoverable in the last quarter of
2020.
Advances to officers and employees are unsecured and noninterest-bearing advances made
for various business-related expenses which are subject to liquidation on demand.
The movement of allowance for impairment losses is shown below:

Balance at beginning of year
Provision during the year
Written off during the year
Balance at end of year

8.

2020
=
P 4,733,006
–
–
=
P 4,733,006

2019
=
P 1,285,933
3,447,073
–
=
P 4,733,006

Deposits for Land Acquisition
On January 18, 2013, the Group, through SREDC, entered into an agreement
(the “Agreement”) with Mr. Laureano R. Gregorio Jr. (“Mr. Gregorio”), a third party, for the
transfer of all the rights, titles and interest over a 150-hectare land in Rosario, Batangas,
which is currently the site of the Park. The initial total consideration was =400.0
P
million to
be settled based on the deliverables of Mr. Gregorio. The consideration shall be adjusted
depending on the fair market value of the Park as may be determined by a mutually
acceptable appraisal company.
A partial payment consisting of =6.0
P
million paid on January 28, 2013 and =5.0
P
million on
July 2, 2014, recognized as deposit for land acquisition, was made. Pending the delivery of
the documents and titles evidencing the real and enforceable rights over the Park which
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usufructuary rights over the property. The parties may, however, agree to extend the
period as the circumstances may warrant.
The fair value of the Park as at February 8, 2013 is =
P 446.1 million which is based on the
appraised value made by an independent appraiser as stated in its appraisal report dated
February 20, 2013.On March 19, 2013, SREDC and Mr. Gregorio agreed to change the total
consideration from its initial consideration of =
P 400.0 million to =446.1
P
million based on the
appraised value.
The details of the appraised value are as follows:
Land (150 hectares at =1.8
P
million per hectare or =
P 180 per sq. m.)
Buildings
Other land improvements

=
P 270,000,000
75,823,000
100,250,000
=
P 446,073,000

On February 16, 2013, the Board of SREDC approved the proposed budget for the
development of the Park, which included the construction and operation of at most sixty
(60) greenhouses for high value crops and a twenty (20) - hectare asparagus farm. In
connection with this, the BOD approved to advance =
P 200.0 million to one of SREDC’s
stockholders to be adjusted as may be deemed appropriate.
The advances made by SREDC to its stockholder totaling =
P 446.1 million in 2014 were made
subject to liquidation for the following purposes (see Note 16):
a. To cover the post-dated checks issued by the stockholder as payment to Mr. Gregorio for
the Park pursuant to the Agreement.
b. To pay for the improvements that will be acquired and introduced on the Park.
c. To pay for the day-to-day operations of the Park.
On December 10, 2014, the Agreement between Mr. Gregorio and the SREDC was extended
for another three years or until January 17, 2018.
No liquidation was made until
January 17, 2018. To allow Mr. Gregorio more time to meet the conditions of the
Agreement, on January 5, 2018, the Agreement was extended for another five years from
January 17, 2018 or until January 16, 2023.
Moreover, the parties agreed to defer the encashment of the post–dated checks issued as
payment for the Park since the payments are dependent on the fulfillment of the conditions
of contract. In 2015, the stockholder paid for the improvements made in the Park, including
the construction of thirty (30) greenhouses with an estimated cost of =
P 10.5 million.
In 2019, several lands amounting to =63.4
P
million were acquired through liquidation of the
advances made to stockholder (see Note 13).
In the last quarter 2017, SREDC started its operation which offers agri-tourism and lifestyle
center activities. The Group recognized revenue amounting to =1.6
P
million in 2020 and
=1.4
P
million in 2019 which includes income from field trips and other recreational events,
room services and other sale of agricultural products.
On February 22, 2019, the Parent Company was authorized to enter in a joint venture
agreement with a third party and the landowners he represents, for the acquisition of land
and/or real estate development, including but not limited to a transport hub. Accordingly,
the Parent Company made a deposit amounting to =
P 4.6 million in 2018. In September
2019, the Parent Company made an additional investment amounting to =
P 4.0 million.
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9.

Other Current Assets
This account consists of:

Input VAT
Prepaid tax
Less allowance for impairment

2020
=
P 9,916,553
33,230

2019
=9,807,436
P
33,230

9,949,783
559,169

9,840,666
559,169

9,390,614

=9,281,497
P

Impaired input VAT amounting to =28,656
P
were written off in 2019.
10. Financial Asset at FVOCI
Below is the rollforward analysis of this account:

Balance at beginning of year
Increase (decrease) in fair value
Disposal during the year
Balance at end of year

2020
2019
=
P 2,461,005,166 =
P 3,101,013,543
(1,042,737,004)
(638,038,377)
–
(1,970,000)
=
P 1,418,268,162 =
P 2,461,005,166

Investment in shares of stocks with carrying value of =
P 1,970,000 as at December 31, 2018
which represent quoted equity investments of a 62.39% owned subsidiary acquired in 2014
was sold for =2.2
P
million recognizing a gain amounting to =
P 220,000 in 2019. Accordingly,
cumulative fair value gain as at December 31, 2018 amounting to =
P 970,000 previously
recognized for these specific shares was reclassified to retained earnings.
Rollforward analysis of fair market value of this investment, which is shown as “Cumulative
fair value gain (loss) on financial asset at FVOCI” in the equity section of the consolidated
statements of financial position is shown below:

Balance at beginning of year
Fair value gain during the period
Reclassification to retained earnings due to
disposal during the period
Balance at end of period

2020
(P
=638,038,377)
(1,042,737,004)

2019
=970,000
P
(638,038,377)

–
(970,000)
(P
=1,680,775,381) (=638,038,377)
P

The rollforward analysis of the Parent Company’s investment in ANI in 2020is shown below:
Balance at beginning of year
Fair value loss during the year
Balance at end of year

=
P 2,461,005,166
(1,042,737,004)
=
P 1,418,268,162

There are no financial assets at FVOCI that are pledged as securities for liabilities.

11. Investment in Associate
This pertains to investment in ANI, a company incorporated in the Philippines. The Group
holds 188,125,379 shares or 30.26% equity ownership with carrying value amounting to
=319,154,639
P
as at December 31, 2017.

- 30 In May and June 2018, the Parent Company sold 5,828,700 shares of its investment in ANI
for net proceeds of =88.9
P
million at an average price of =15.24
P
per share. Gain on sale
recognized in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income amounted to
=79.0
P
million. The sale resulted to the decrease in the Parent Company’s ownership in ANI
from 28.16% to 23.73%.
Furthermore, the Parent Company waived its right to subscribe additional shares in ANI
when the SEC approved ANI’s increase in authorized capital stock from 1.0 billion common
shares with par value of =
P 1.00 per share to 2.0 billion common shares with par value of =
P
1.00 per share on December 28, 2018. The investment was diluted to 17.90%, as a result
of the waiver of its right to subscribe additional shares in 2018.
On the date the Parent Company’s investment ceased to be an associate, it re-measured
the investment balance at fair value.
The Parent Company recognized as gain on
reclassification of investment in associate to financial asset at FVOCI in profit or loss the
difference between:
a. The fair value of the retained investment; and
b. The carrying amount of the investment (at cost) at the date when significant influence
is lost.
As at December 31, 2018, the remaining investment in ANI at fair value is accounted for in
accordance with PFRS 9. Accordingly, the fair value of the remaining investment in ANI was
reclassified to financial asset at FVOCI (see Note 10). The fair value of the remaining
investment at the date it ceases to be an associate is the amount recognized on initial
recognition as financial asset at FVOCI.
There were no significant changes in the carrying value of the net assets of ANI from
December 28 to 31, 2018 when the Parent Company’s investment in ANI was reclassified
from associate to financial asset at FVOCI as a result of dilution (see Note 10). Gain on
reclassification of the investment recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income (loss) amounted to =2.6
P
billion (see Note 10). The gain was
mainly due to the different measurements between the two types of investments.
The rollforward analysis of the carrying value of this account in 2018 is shown below:
Balance at beginning of year
Carrying value of shares sold during the year
Equity in other comprehensive loss of an
associate during the year
Equity in net loss of an associate
Carrying value of the remaining investment in
ANI at date of cease of significant influence
(deemed disposal)
Gain on deemed disposal
Gain on reclassification of investment in
associate to financial asset at FVOCI
Fair value of the remaining investment in ANI at
date of cease of significant influence
Reclassification of investment in associate
to financial asset at FVOCI (see Note 10)
Balance at end of year

=319,154,639
P
(9,888,387)
(9,435,624)
(760,596)

299,070,032
186,436,244
2,613,537,267
3,099,043,543
(3,099,043,543)
=–
P

The fair value of remaining investment in ANI at the date it ceases to be an associate
amounted to =
P 3.10 billion based on the quoted price per share is the amount recognized on
initial recognition as financial asset at FVOCI.
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12. Advances for Waste Recycling Project
Advances for waste recycling project amounting to =
P 235.0 million as at December 31, 2013
represents TWMRSI’s machinery and equipment and steel structures for the construction of
a wet process recovery system for solid waste (the “Facility”). These are currently stored
for free in a warehouse owned by a director of the TWMRSI located in Santiago Street,
Barangay Lingunan, Valenzuela City. TWMRSI has not started the assembly and installation
of the parts as it is still finalizing the arrangement for the site where the project site will be
located.
On April 20, 2015, TWMRSI engaged the services of a third party to appraise the market
value of the facility. The facility was appraised at =
P 113,759,000. However, management
believed that the cost of advances for the Facility may no longer be recovered. Accordingly,
a full impairment provision was made in 2014.

- 32 13. Property and Equipment
The rollforward analysis of this account is shown below:
2020
Transportation

Furniture, fixtures

Land

Land
improvements

Building
improvements

equipment and
machineries

and office
equipment

Bearer assets

Total

=64,001,278
P
–

=55,720,907
P
–

=45,515,296
P
–

=13,529,242
P
–

=159,119
P
–

=4,032,131
P
–

=
P 182,957,973
–

64,001,278

55,720,907

45,515,296

13,529,242

159,119

4,032,131

182,957,973

–
–

7,722,056
2,786,049

12,203,726
4,658,550

6,741,783
1,581,625

159,119
–

1,612,852
604,821

28,439,536
9,631,045

Cost:
Balance at beginning of year
Additions during the period
Balance at end of year
Accumulated depreciation and amortization:
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation and amortization
Balance at end of period
Net book value

–

10,508,105

16,862,276

8,323,408

159,119

2,217,673

38,070,581

=64,001,278
P

=45,212,802
P

=28,653,020
P

=5,205,834
P

=–
P

=1,814,458
P

=
P 144,887,392

2019

Cost:
Balance at beginning of year
Additions during the year
Balance at end of year

Transportation

Furniture, fixtures

Land

Land
improvements

Building
improvements

equipment and
machineries

and office
equipment

Bearer assets

Total

=641,278
P
63,360,000

=55,720,907
P
–

=45,515,296
P
–

=13,271,882
P
257,360

=159,119
P
–

=4,032,131
P
–

=
P 119,340,613
63,617,360

64,001,278

55,720,907

45,515,296

13,529,242

159,119

4,032,131

182,957,973

–
–

4,007,329
3,714,727

6,104,339
6,099,387

4,520,929
2,220,854

155,720
3,399

806,426
806,426

15,594,743
12,844,793

Accumulated depreciation and amortization:
Balance at beginning of year
Depreciation and amortization
Balance at end of year
Net book value

–

7,722,056

12,203,726

6,741,783

159,119

1,612,852

28,439,536

=64,001,278
P

=47,998,851
P

=33,311,570
P

=6,787,459
P

=–
P

=2,419,279
P

=
P 154,518,437

As at December 31, 2019, additions amounting to =63,360,000
P
pertain to the liquidation of the advances extended to one of the stockholders
(see Note 8). Fully depreciated assets amounting to =2,454,419
P
are still being used in operations.
Depreciation and amortization expense for the period ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 are shown as part of general and administrative
expenses in the Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss) (see Note 20).

- 33 The Group’s management had reviewed the carrying values of the property and equipment
as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 for any impairment. Based on the
evaluation, there are no indications that the property and equipment might be significantly
impaired.
There are no contractual commitments to purchase property and equipment. There are
also no property and equipment that are pledged as securities for liabilities. Further, there
is no property whose title is restricted from use of the Group in both periods.

14. Investment Properties
As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 the account consists of the following:
Property
Land
Land
Land

Location
Batangas
Laguna
Olongapo

Area
35,084 sq. m
335 sq. m
467 sq. m

Allowance for impairment

Cost
=
P 3,157,560
2,400,000
1,500,000
7,057,560
(737,095)
=6,320,465
P

The land located in Rosario, Batangas, and in Cabuyao Laguna and Olongapo City were
acquired in 2013 and 2008, respectively. These properties with total land area of 35,886
square meters are intended to be held for capital appreciation. The estimated fair value as
at December 31, 2018 amounted to =
P 6.32 million using the Market Data Approach based
on available market information. This approach was used for the land as it is commonly
used in the property market since inputs and data for this approach are available.
Fair value of the property was not determined as at September 30, 2020. However, the
management believes that there were no conditions present in 2020 and 2019 that would
significantly reduce the recoverable values of investment property from its net carrying
value and that fair value of the investment approximates it’s carrying value.
The Group’s management had reviewed the carrying values of the investment properties for
any impairment as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019. Allowance for
impairment amounted to =
P 0.74 million as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
There are no contractual commitments to purchase or construct investment property.
There is also no investment property that are pledged as securities as at September 30,
2020 and December 31, 2019. Furthermore, there is no property whose title is restricted
from use of the Group in both years.

15. Trade and Other Payables
This account consists of:
Note
Trade
Government payables
Accrued expenses
Refundable deposit
Advances from officers and employees

18

2020
=
P 20,465,828
4,524,610
–
270,000
78,526
=
P 25,338,964

2019
=13,857,584
P
4,524,783
484,580
270,000
78,526
=19,215,473
P

- 34 Trade payables are unsecured and noninterest-bearing which arise from purchases of
materials, supplies and services in the ordinary course of business that are settled within 90
days.
Government payables are dues and remittances which represents contributions of
employees that will be remitted to various government agencies. It also includes taxes
withheld from salaries of employees and income payment to suppliers, which will be
remitted in the subsequent month.
Accrued expenses include accruals of professional fees, taxes and penalties.
Advances from officers and employees are noninterest-bearing which arise from rendering
of services to the Group are payable on demand.

16. Related Party Transactions
The Group entered into transactions with related parties.
follow:

Details of these transactions

a.

The Group availed and extended unsecured noninterest-bearing cash advances from
and to its related parties with no definite repayment dates for working capital
requirements.

b.

The Group extended noninterest-bearing and unsecured cash advances to one of its
stockholders for the acquisition and development of the Park amounting to =
P 446.1
million in 2014 (see Notes 1 and 8). In 2020, additional settlement received amounted
to =3.8
P
million.

c.

As at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 details and outstanding balances of
due to and from related parties follow:
2020
Receivables
Stockholders
Affiliates
Allowance for impairment
Payables
Affiliates
Stockholders

2019

=
P 708,748,063
81,314,908
790,062,971
(74,911,862)
=
P 715,151,109

=
P 726,054,930
66,774,704
792,829,634
(74,911,862)
=
P 717,917,772

=
P 70,761,614
14,034,331
=
P 84,795,945

=66,652,128
P
14,334,331
=80,986,459
P

For financial statements disclosure purposes, an affiliate is an entity under common
control of the Group’s stockholders.
The rollforward analysis of related party accounts follow:
2020
Receivables
Balance at beginning of year
Liquidation during the period (Note 8)
Collections during the period
Advances made during the period
Provision for impairment during the period
Balance at end of period

=
P 717,917,772
(17,306,867)
–
14,540,204
715,151,109
–
=
P 715,151,109

2019
=811,115,326
P
(63,360,000)
(38,071,311)
31,962,293
741,646,308
(23,728,536)
=717,917,772
P
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Payable
Balance at beginning of year
Advances received during the period
Payments made during the period
Reversal during the period
Balance at end of period
d.

2020

2019

=
P 80,986,459
3,809,486
–
–

=118,057,499
P
7,814,924
(36,901,907)
(7,984,057)

=
P 84,795,945

=
P 80,986,459

On July 2, 2014, the Parent Company executed a subscription agreement with
Earthright Holdings, Inc. (EHI). Subject to the application to and approval by the SEC
of the Parent Company’s increase of its authorized capital stock (the “Increase”), EHI
subscribed to P250.0 million worth of common shares at P1.00 per share and P37.5
million worth preferred shares at P0.01 per share. On May 22, 2019, the Parent
Company and EHI executed an Amended Subscription Agreement amending the
Subscription Agreement dated July 2, 2014 to increase the subscription of EHI from
P250 million worth of common shares to P750 million worth of common shares. The
amended number of subscribed common shares represent 25% of the required
subscription out of the proposed increase. The deposit will be converted into equity
once approval from the SEC have been obtained.
In 2019, the Parent Company received additional deposits amounting to =
P 44.8 million.
As at June 26, 2020, the Parent Company is awaiting approval by the SEC of the
increase. The balance of the deposit for future stock subscription presented under
current liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position amounted
to =221.8
P
million as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

e.

The summary of the Group’s related party transactions follows:
2020
Balance - Asset

Category

Amount

(Liability)

Terms and
Conditions/Settlement

Guaranty/ Provision

Stockholders
Receivables
 Liquidation

=708,748,063
P
(P
=17,306,867)

 Collections

-

 Advances made

-

 Allowance for

Noninterest-bearing; payable

Unsecured; no significant

on demand and to be settled

warranties and

through liquidation

covenants; with
impairment

-

impairment
(14,034,331) Noninterest-bearing; payable

Payable

Unsecured; no significant

 Advances received

-

on demand and to be settled

warranties and

 Payments made

-

in cash

covenants

Deposit for future stock

-

(221,821,275) Noninterest-bearing; no

subscriptions

Unsecured; no significant

definite repayment dates; to

warranties and

be applied as future

covenants

subscription of capital stock
Affiliates
Receivable
 Advances made

81,314,908
14,540,204

 Collections received

-

 Allowance for

-

Noninterest-bearing; payable

Unsecured; no significant

on demand and to be settled

warranties and

in cash

covenants; with

(66,402,931)

impairment

impairment
(70,761,614) Noninterest-bearing; payable

Payable
 Advances received
 Payments made
 Write-off

3,809,486
-

Unsecured; no significant

on demand and to be settled

warranties and

in cash

covenants
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2019
Balance - Asset
Category

Amount

(Liability)

Terms and
Conditions/Settlement

Guaranty/ Provision

Stockholders
=726,054,930
P

Receivables
 Liquidation

(P
=63,360,000)

 Collections

(16,615,578)

 Advances made

warranties and

through liquidation

covenants; with
impairment

(8,508,931)
(8,508,931)

Payable

(14,034,331) Noninterest-bearing; payable

 Advances received

(941,197)

on demand and to be settled

 Payments made

942,456

in cash

Deposit for future stock

Unsecured; no significant

on demand and to be settled

9,966,193

 Allowance for
impairment

Noninterest-bearing; payable

(44,821,275)

warranties and
covenants

(221,821,275) Noninterest-bearing; no

subscriptions

Unsecured; no significant

Unsecured; no significant

definite repayment dates; to

warranties and

be applied as future

covenants

subscription of capital stock
Affiliates
Receivable

66,774,704

Noninterest-bearing; payable

Unsecured; no significant

 Advances made

21,966,100

on demand and to be settled

warranties and

 Collections received

(21,455,733)

in cash

covenants; with

 Allowance for

(15,219,605)

(66,402,931)

impairment

impairment
Payable
 Advances received
 Payments made
 Write-off

f.

(66,952,128) Noninterest-bearing; payable
(6,873,727)
35,959,451

warranties and

in cash

covenants

7,984,057

Compensation paid to key management personnel for the years then ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019 follows:

Short term benefits
Salaries and wages
13th month pay and other benefits

g.

Unsecured; no significant

on demand and to be settled

2020

2019

=
P 1,150,034
113,540
=
P 1,263,574

=1,075,338
P
94,896
=1,170,234
P

There are no other significant related party transactions in 2020 and 2019.

17. Equity
Capital Stock
Based on the Amended Articles of Incorporation dated September 11, 2014, the Parent
Company’s preferred shares have, among others, the following features: (a) voting, (b)
right to receive dividends at the rate as may deemed by the BOD under the prevailing
market conditions, and (c) in liquidation, dissolution, and winding up of the Parent
Company, whether voluntary or otherwise, the right to be paid in full or ratably insofar as
the assets of the Parent Company will permit, the par value or face value of each preferred
shares as the BOD may determine, upon issue, plus unpaid and accrued dividends up to the
current dividend period, before any assets of the Parent Company shall be paid or
distributed to the holders of common shares.
The stockholders of the Parent Company shall have no pre-emptive rights to subscribe to or
purchase any or all, issue or dispose of shares of any class of the Group.
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Preferred
Number of
Shares

Common
Number of
Shares

Amount

Amount

Authorized – =0.10
P
par value
per preferred share/ =
P 1.0 par
value per common share

1,000,000,000

=100,000,000
P

1,900,000,000

=1,900,000,000
P

Subscribed and issued

1,000,000,000

=100,000,000
P

1,703,278,573

=1,703,278,573
P

There were no movements in the Group’s common and preferred shares in 2020 and 2019.
The following summarizes the information on the Group’s registration of securities under
the Securities Regulation Code:
Date of SEC Approval
September 11, 2014
March 8, 2012
June 22, 2011
October 15, 2009
June 24, 2008
December 28, 2007
September 7, 2007

Authorized shares
2,900,000,000
200,000,000,000
100,000,000,000
5,000,000,000
2,450,000,000
1,120,000,000
160,000,000

The total number of shareholders of the Group is 1,027 as at September 30, 2020 and
1,032 as at December 31, 2019.
The principal market for the Group’s capital stock is the PSE. The high and low trading
prices of the Group’s shares as at September 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

First
Second
Third
Fourth

2020
High
=0.80
P
1.89
2.22
–

Low
=0.75
P
1.77
2.17
–

2019
High
=2.45
P
2.60
2.58
–

Low
=
P 2.32
2.51
2.48
–

18. Sales
Sales pertain to receipts from agri-tourism and sale of fruits and vegetables.
currently the only sources of income of the Group.

These are

The table shows the analysis of sales of the Group by major sources for the period ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019:
Category
Sale of fruits and vegetables and livestock
Agri-tourism

2020
=
P 1,492,716
144,701

2019
=
P 789,541
640,000

Total

=
P 1,637,417

=
P 1,429,541

The performance obligation to provide tourism services is satisfied at a point in time which
is upon render of service and delivery of the goods. There are no outstanding contract
balances from the Group’s sales. The Group has no liability related to these services.
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The Group leases its nine-hectare property situated at Rosario, Batangas effective from
January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015, and shall be automatically renewed for successive
one-year periods unless terminated. Under the terms of the lease agreement, the rental
shall be =30,000
P
per hectare per annum, exclusive of VAT and subject to an escalation of
10% per year starting from the second year of the lease agreement.
Rent receivable amounted to =
P 1.9 million and =
P 1.6 million as at September 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively (see Note 7). Refundable deposit under this lease
agreement amounted to =270,000
P
as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (see
Note 15). Rental income amounted to =0.3
P
million in 2020 and 2019, presented in the
Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

19. Cost of Sales
This account consists of:
2020
=
P 1,653,393
97,540
=
P 1,750,933

Farm supplies
Meals

2019
=566,154
P
124,908
=691,062
P

20. General and Administrative Expenses
This account consists of:
Note

Depreciation and amortization
Contractual services
Salaries and wages
Utilities
Transportation
Repairs and maintenance
Listing and stock transfer fees
Materials and supplies
Legal and professional
Representation and entertainment
Taxes and licenses
Penalties and fines
Miscellaneous

13

2020

2019

=
P 9,631,045
5,895,861
3,360,885
1,562,974
447,970
390,256
322,639
314,359
294,410
79,063
66,820
120,888

=9,525,120
P
6,942,635
3,146,161
2,028,989
534,948
936,373
911,250
1,883,803
436,250
84,459
237,299
346,049
144,452

=
P 22,487,170

=
P 27,157,788

–

Miscellaneous expenses include advertising, service charges and other fees.
As at September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Group is not covered by the provisions of the
Republic Act No. 7641, Retirement Pay Law, because the total number of regular employees
is not more than 10, which is the number of mandated to comply with the said law.
Accordingly, the Group has not made a provision for retirement benefits.
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21. Income Taxes
a.

The current income tax expense in 2020 and 2019 pertains to MCIT.

b.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense computed at the statutory tax rate
and the income tax shown in Group’s consolidated statements of comprehensive income
(loss) is as follows:
Notes

2020
(P
=14,980,223)

Income (loss) before income tax

30%

Multiplied by statutory tax rate

2019
(=9,123,594)
P
30%

Income tax expense computed at
statutory tax rate

(4,494,067)

(2,737,078)

(310)

(7,613)

Income tax effects of:
Interest income subjected to final tax

6

Unrecognized deferred tax assets on:
NOLCO

c.

4,494,377

2,750,413

=
P–

=5,722
P

The Group has NOLCO which can be claimed as deduction against future taxable income
for the next three years as follows:
Year
2019
2018
2017
2016

Expiration
2022
2021
2020
2019

Applied/Expired
=
P
–
–
3,804,940
=3,804,940
P

Balance
=
P 30,956,795
31,448,450
7,506,866
–
=
P 69,912,111

Tax effect
=
P 9,287,039
9,434,535
2,252,059
–
=
P 20,973,633

The Group incurred MCIT which can be claimed as deduction against future tax due as
follows:
Year
2019
2018
2017
2016

Expiration
2022
2021
2020
2019

Applied/Expired
=–
P
–
–
476,010
=476,010
P

Balance
=165,449
P
28,443
231,426
–
=425,318
P

The income tax benefits of NOLCO and MCIT were not recognized in the consolidated
financial statements as management believes that these could not be utilized prior to
its expiration.
d.

The Group opted for the itemized deduction scheme for its income tax reporting in 2020
and 2019.

22. Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share
The following table presents the information necessary to compute the basic earnings (loss)
per share attributable to equity holders of the Group.
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Net loss attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Company

2019

(P
=15,154,569)

Divided by: Weighted average number of common
shares

(=
P 18,073,625)

1,703,278,572

1,703,278,572

(P
=0.001)

Basic loss per share

(=0.01)
P

The Group has no diluted loss per share for the year ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

23. Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interests represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable directly or
indirectly to the Parent Company. The details of the account are as follows:
2020
Balance at
beginning of year
SREDC
LSTI

=
P 228,743,356
(26,559)

TWMRSI

Net loss

Other
comprehensive loss

(=7,138,333)
P
(5,789)

(115,478,443)
=
P 113,238,354

=
P–
–

(5,789)

–

(=7,149,911)
P

=
P–

Balance at
end of year
=221,605,023
P
(32,348)
(115,484,232)
=106,088,443
P

2019
Balance at

Other

Balance at

comprehensive loss

end of year

(=
P 15,989,277)

=
P–

=228,743,356
P

(28,133)
(38,638)

–
–

(=16,056,048)
P

=
P–

beginning of year
SREDC

=
P 244,732,633

LSTI
TWMRSI

Net loss

1,574
(115,439,805)
=
P 129,294,402

(26,559)
(115,478,443)
=113,238,354
P

Other comprehensive loss pertains to fair value loss on financial asset at FVOCI for the
period attributable to non–controlling interest.

24. Financial Instruments
The following tables set forth the carrying values and estimated fair values of the Group’s
financial asset and liabilities recognized as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
2020
Quoted prices in

Significant

active market observable inputs
Note
Petty cash

6

Carrying value

Fair value

(Level 1)

(Level 2)

=
P 50,000

=50,000
P

=
P–

=50,000
P

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash in banks

6

1,311,812

1,311,812

–

1,311,812

Nontrade receivables – net

7

250,775,824

250,775,824

–

250,775,824

Due from related parties – net

16

715,151,109

715,151,109

–

715,151,109

10

1,418,268,162

1,418,268,162

1,418,268,162

–

=
P 2,385,556,907

=
P 2,385,556,907

=1,418,268,162
P

=
P 967,288,745

Financial asset at FVOCI
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Trade and other payables*

15

=
P 20,814,354

=
P 20,814,354

=
P–

Due to related parties

16

84,795,945

84,795,945

–

=20,814,354
P
84,795,945

=105,610,299
P

=105,610,299
P

=
P–

=
P 105,610,299

Quoted prices in

Significant

2019
active market observable inputs
Note
Petty cash

6

Carrying value

Fair value

(Level 1)

(Level 2)

=50,000
P

=50,000
P

=
P–

=50,000
P

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash in banks

6

1,270,074

1,270,074

–

1,270,074

Nontrade receivables – net

7

250,504,887

250,504,887

–

250,504,887

Due from related parties – net

16

717,917,772

717,917,772

–

717,917,772

10

2,461,005,166

2,461,005,166

2,461,005,166

–

=
P 3,430,747,899

=
P 3,430,747,899

=2,461,005,166
P

=
P 969,742,733
=14,690,690
P

Financial asset at FVOCI

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Trade and other payables*

15

=
P 14,690,690

=
P 14,690,690

=
P–

Due to related parties

16

80,986,459

80,986,459

–

80,986,459

=
P 95,677,149

=
P 95,677,149

=
P–

=95,677,149
P

Methods and Assumption Used to Estimate Fair Value
The carrying values of the financial assets, except financial asset at FVOCI, and financial
liabilities approximate their fair values due to their relatively short-term maturities or
short-term nature of transactions. Financial assets at FVOCI pertaining to investment in a
listed company included in level 1 is valued based at published prices. The fair value of
financial assets and financial liabilities included in level 2 which are not traded in active
market are determined based on the expected cash flows of the underlying asset and
liability based on the investment where the significant inputs required to determine the fair
value of such instrument are directly or indirectly observable.
There are no transfers to and from level 1 and 2 categories during 2020 and 2019.

25. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, which resulted from its investing and
financing activities. The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of cash in banks,
nontrade receivables, financial asset at FVOCI, trade and other payables, and due to and
from related parties. The main purpose of investing these financial instrument (assets) is
to maximize interest yield and for capital appreciation. The Group’s policies and guidelines
cover credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk and foreign currency risk.
The objective of financial risk management is to contain, where appropriate, exposures in
these financial risks to limit any negative impact on the Group’s results and financial
position. The Group actively measures, monitors and manages its financial risk exposures
by various functions pursuant to the segregation of duties principles.


Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligation under a financial
instrument or customer contract, resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group is
exposed to credit risk primarily from cash in banks, nontrade receivables, due from
related parties and financial asset at FVOCI.
With respect to credit risk arising from the Group’s financial assets, the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to
the carrying amount of these instruments.
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The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group as at
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, without considering the effects of credit
risk mitigation techniques.
2020
=
P 1,311,812
252,028,894
790,062,971
1,418,268,162
=
P 2,461,671,839

Cash in banks
Nontrade receivables
Due from related parties
Financial asset at FVOCI

2019
=
P 1,270,074
251,757,957
792,829,634
2,461,005,166
=
P 3,506,862,831

Credit quality per class of financial asset
Below is the credit quality per class of financial assets as at September 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019.
2020
Neither past due nor impaired
Cash in banks

Past due but

High grade

Standard grade

not impaired

Impaired

Total

=1,206,796
P

=
P 105,016

=–
P

=–
P

=1,311,812
P
252,028,894

Nontrade receivables

–

632,644

250,143,180

1,253,070

Due from related parties

–

715,151,109

–

74,911,862

790,062,971

Financial asset at FVOCI

1,418,268,162

–

–

–

1,418,268,162

=1,419,474,958
P

=715,888,769
P

=
P 250,143,180

=76,164,932
P

=2,461,671,839
P

2019
Neither past due nor impaired
Cash in banks

Past due but

High grade

Standard grade

not impaired

Impaired

Total

=1,158,522
P

=
P 111,552

=–
P

=–
P

=1,270,074
P

Nontrade receivables

–

361,707

250,143,180

1,253,070

251,757,957

Due from related parties

–

717,917,772

–

74,911,862

792,829,634

Financial asset at FVOCI

2,461,005,166

–

–

–

2,461,005,166

=2,462,163,688
P

=
P 718,391,031

=
P 250,143,180

=76,164,932
P

=
P 3,506,862,831

High grade cash in banks are placed, invested, or deposited in local banks belonging to
the top 10 banks in the Philippines in terms of resources and profitability. Due from
related parties under high grade accounts considered to be of high value.
Standard grade accounts are active accounts with propensity of deteriorating to
mid-range age buckets. These accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties
generally respond to credit actions and update their payments accordingly.
Investment in shares of stocks under high grade classification are assigned to financial
assets at FVOCI invested to well-established and financially sound company.
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business
activities or activities in the same geographic region or have similar economic features
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by
changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative
sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or
geographical location. Such credit risk concentrations, if not properly managed, may
cause significant losses that could threaten the Group’s financial strength and
undermine public confidence. The Group is not exposed to large concentration of credit
risks.
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The Group applies general approach for determining the ECLs of cash in banks,
nontrade receivables and due from related parties. A credit loss is the difference
between the cash flows that are expected to be received discounted at the original
effective interest rate and contractual cash flows in accordance with the contract. The
loss allowance for financial assets are based on the assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The management has assessed that due from related parties
amounting to =
P 74.9 million is uncollectible.


Liquidity Risk
The Group seeks to manage its liquidity profile to be able to finance its capital
expenditures and cover its operating costs. The Group’s objective is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through valuation of projected and
actual cash flow information. Additional short-term funding is obtained from related
party advances.
Maturity Profile
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are presented below:
2020
Due beyond one
Due within

year but not more

On demand

one year

than five years

Total

Financial assets
Cash in banks

=
P 1,311,812

=–
P

=–
P

=1,311,812
P

Nontrade receivables – net

250,775,824

–

–

250,775,824

Due from related parties – net

715,151,109

–

–

715,151,109

–

–

1,418,268,162

1,418,268,162

=967,238,745
P

=–
P

=1,418,268,162
P

=2,385,506,907
P
=20,814,354
P

Financial asset at FVOCI
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables*
Due to related parties

=
P–

=20,814,354
P

=–
P

84,795,945

–

–

84,795,945

=84,795,945
P

=20,814,354
P

=–
P

105,610,299

2019
Due beyond one
Due within

year but not more

On demand

one year

than five years

Total

Financial assets
Cash in banks

=
P 1,270,074

=–
P

=–
P

=1,270,074
P

Nontrade receivables – net

250,504,887

–

–

250,504,887

Due from related parties – net

717,917,772

–

–

717,917,772

–

–

2,461,005,166

2,461,005,166

=969,692,733
P

=–
P

=2,461,005,166
P

=3,430,697,899
P
=14,690,690
P

Financial asset at FVOCI
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables*
Due to related parties

=
P–

=14,690,690
P

=–
P

80,986,459

–

–

80,986,459

=80,986,459
P

=14,690,690
P

=–
P

=95,677,149
P

*Excluding government payables amounting to =
P 4.5 million in 2020 (see Note 15).



Interest rate risk
The Group is not exposed to interest rate fluctuations on their cash in banks and cash
equivalents. Other financial assets and liabilities which principally arise in the ordinary
course of its operations are generally short-term and noninterest-bearing.
Historically, the rate fluctuations relative to its cash in banks are minimal.
rates in 2020 and 2019 are less than 1%.

Interest
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Equity Price Risk
The Group’s exposure to equity securities price risk pertains to its equity instrument
financial asset at FVOCI. Equity securities price risk arises from the changes in the
levels of equity indices and the value of stocks traded in the stock market.
At September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, if the quoted stock price for the
securities using PSE index had increased by 38% and 41%, respectively, the Group’s
total equity would have been higher by about =932,259,431
P
and =1,261,649,299,
P
respectively.
On the other hand, if the quoted market price for these securities had decreased by the
same percentage, with all other variables held constant, total equity for the period
would have been lower by the same amount. The analysis is based on the assumption
that the quoted prices had changed by 38% and 41%, with all other variables held
constant.



Foreign Currency Risk
Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currency. The Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk given that the Group’s foreign
currency denominated financial assets which pertains to cash in banks are not
significant in amount.

26. Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure its ability to continue
as a going concern and maintains healthy ratios in order to support its business and
maximize shareholders’ value.
The Group considers the following accounts as its capital:

Capital stocks
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Due to related parties

2020
=
P 1,803,278,572
268,090,531
1,738,247,245
84,795,945
=
P 3,894,412,293

2019
=
P 1,803,278,572
268,090,531
1,753,401,814
80,986,459
=
P 3,905,757,376

The Group manages capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio which is calculated as
total debt divided by total equity.
The debt-to-equity ratios as at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 follow:

Total debt
Total equity

2020
=
P 331,958,502
2,234,929,410
15%

2019
=322,188,656
P
3,299,970,894
10%

The Group had not been subjected to externally imposed capital requirements in 2020 and
2019. No changes were made pin the objectives, policies, and processes during the years
ended September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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Business Segments
For management purposes, the Group is organized and managed separately according to
the nature of products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic
business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.
The industry segments where the Group operates are as follows:
a. The holding segment is engaged in investment holding;
b. The renewal energy segment is engaged in the business and/or operation of renewable
energy system and/or harnessing renewable energy resources;
c. The waste management segment is engaged in the business of building, operating and
managing waste recovery facilities;
d. The real estate segment is engaged in the business of real estate development and
improvement for agri-tourism; and
e. The information technology segment is engaged in the business of software and other
communication technology solutions and value-added services arising from or
connected to telecommunications.
Segment Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of
operating cash, receivables, property and equipment and investment properties. Segment
liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of trade and other payables
and loans payable.
Segment Transactions
Segment income, expenses and performance include income and expenses from
operations. Intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
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Segment Financial Information
The segment financial information is presented as follows:
2020

Income
Revenue
Unrealized forex gain
Interest income

Holding

Renewable
energy

Waste
management

Real estate and
agri-tourism

Information
technology

Elimination

Total

=–
P
155
602

=
P–
–
465

=
P–
–
–

=1,933,897
P
–
325

=
P–
–
–

=
P–
–
–

=1,933,897
P
155
1,392

757

465

–

1,934,222

–

–

1,935,444

Expense
General and administrative expenses
Unrealized forex loss
Provision for income tax

(3,255,576)
(1,822)
–

(44,794)
–
–

(11,814)
–
–

(20,914,104)
–
–

(11,814)
–
–

–
–
–

(24,238,102)
(1,822)
–

Net loss

(3,256,641)

(44,329)

(11,814)

(18,979,882)

(11,814)

–

(22,304,480)

Net loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company
Non-controlling interest

(3,256,641)
–

(44,329)
–

(6,025)
(5,789)

(11,841,549)
(7,138,333)

(6,025)
(5,789)

–

(15,154,569)
(7,149,911)

(=
P 3,256,331)

(=44,329)
P

(P
=11,814)

(P
=18,979,882)

(=11,814)
P

=–
P

(=22,304,480)
P

Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

=2,370,677,583
P

=6,434,695
P

=
P–

=558,121,020
P

=
P 266,170

(P
=368,611,556) =2,566,887,912
P

=320,121,955
P

=
P 73,241,501

=233,808,677
P

=
P 15,009,712

=
P 333,169

(P
=310,556,512)

=331,958,502
P
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2019

Income
Revenue
Gain on sale of financial asset at FVOCI
Interest income
Reversal of payables
Expense
General and administrative expenses
Impairment loss
Unrealized forex loss
Provision for income tax

Holding

Renewable
energy

Waste
management

Real estate and
agri-tourism

Information
technology

=–
P
–
3,787
8,160,559

=
P–
–
255
91,798

=
P–
–
–
20,123

=2,040,910
P
220,000
24,875
182,213

=
P–
–
–
–

=
P–
–
–
(182,213)

=2,040,910
P
220,000
28,917
8,272,480

8,164,346

92,053

20,123

2,467,998

–

(182,213)

10,562,307

(309,140)
–
–

(98,573)
–
–

(33,025,360)
(11,956,004)
–

(6,098,390)
(23,433,095)
(3,931)

(39,406,664)
(27,734,778)
(3,931)

(163,211)

(1,836)

(402)

–

(165,449)

(21,534,281)

(218,923)

(78,852)

(42,513,366)

(57,414)

7,654,321

(56,748,515)

Net loss attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company

(21,534,281)

(218,923)

(40,214)

(26,524,089)

(29,281)

7,654,321

(40,692,467)

(38,638)

(15,989,277)

(28,133)

–

(16,056,048)

(P
=78,852)

(P
=42,513,366)

(P
=57,414)

=7,654,321
P

(P
=56,748,515)

–
(P
=21,534,281)

Assets and Liabilities
Segment assets
Segment liabilities

–
(P
=218,923)

–

182,213
7,654,321
–

Total

Net loss

Non-controlling interest

–

(57,414)
–
–

Elimination

=3,491,647,091
P

=235,680
P

=
P–

=577,309,605
P

=
P 266,170

(P
=447,298,996) =3,622,159,550
P

=316,410,377
P

=
P 66,998,157

=233,796,863
P

=
P 15,218,415

=
P 321,355

(P
=310,556,511)

=322,188,656
P
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28. Events After Reporting Period
In a move to contain the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 16, 2020, Presidential
Proclamation No. 929 was issued, declaring a State of Calamity throughout the Philippines
for a period of six (6) months and imposed an enhanced community quarantine throughout
the island of Luzon until April 30, 2020, unless earlier lifted or extended. These measures
have caused disruptions to businesses and economic activities, and its impact on
businesses still continue to evolve.
The pandemic has less significant impact on the Group’s business as it only affected the
Group’s administrative work, being a holding Company, and delayed the shipment of
Hanergy solar products (see Note 1) which was postponed until after community quarantine
period. While management recognizes that the COVID-19 pandemic poses potential impact
on the Group’s activities in terms of risks related to exposures to industries severely
affected by COVID-19, the related amount of financial effect cannot be reliably and
reasonably determined or estimated.
The Group’s management and BOD will continuously monitor the impact and will plan
accordingly to minimize and (or) mitigate further risk on the Group’s consolidated financial
performance and position.

29. Other Matters
On Voluntary Trading Suspension
On May 13, 2015, the Parent Company requested for a voluntary suspension in the trading
of its securities in the PSE. The request was filed in order to prevent any unusual volatility
in the trading of the Parent Company's securities that may cause investor panic as a result
of a news article on the inclusion of certain bank accounts of the Parent Company in a
Freeze Order issued by the Court of Appeals.
After careful review of the Request to Lift and the documents in support thereof as well as
the conduct of a due diligence review of the Parent Company’s disclosures and reports, the
PSE granted the Request to Lift the trading suspension.
On November 5, 2018, the shares of the Parent Company resumed trading in the PSE.
On Civil Forfeiture
On December 15, 2015 the RTC of the City of Manila, Branch 53, (the “Court”) placed under
asset preservation specified bank accounts of (i) Parent Company and (ii) SREDC, a
subsidiary of the Parent Company (the “Order”). The Order was predicated solely on the
allegation made by the Anti-Money Laundering Council (“AMLC”) that multiple transactions
involving receipt of inward remittances and inter-branch fund transfers between Parent
Company, SREDC, and related corporations were allegedly without any underlying legal or
trade obligation, purpose, or economic justification and/or that they were allegedly not
commensurate to the business or financial capacity of the parties involved.
On January 22, 2016, the Parent Company and the SREDC filed a Motion for
Reconsideration of the Order, praying that the same be discharged on the ground that the
issuance of the Order had no legal or factual basis, among others.
The rules on confidentiality and sub judice bar the Parent Company from publicly going into
the details of the on-going proceedings with the Court; however, the Parent Company
wishes to draw attention to the disclosures dated June 30, 2014 and July 1, 2, 3, 7 and 10,
2014 (Material Disclosures) lodged by the Parent Company with the PSE (hence, already
public and readily accessible) that would show that the receipts and transmittals involving
the corporations had economic justifications and involved business transactions, which were
timely made public.

- 49 On July 19, 2018, the Parent Company received an Order dated July 9, 2018 (the
“Discharge Order”) from the Court. In the Discharge Order, the Court ruled that “the funds
in the subject accounts of respondents Greenergy et al. are not related to the unlawful
activity of violation of R.A. 3019 and R.A. 7080.” Thus, the bank accounts of the Parent
Company and SREDC were “orders discharged from the effects of the Asset Preservation
Order (APO) dated December 15, 2015.”
With the Order, which was immediately
executory, the Parent Company regained access and control over the Subject Bank
Accounts.
On August 9, 2018, the Parent Company received a copy of the Motion for Reconsideration
dated August 3, 2018 (the Motion for Reconsideration”) filed by the Republic of the
Philippines (“Petitioner”) with the Regional Trial Court assailing the Discharge Order.
In an Order dated July 9, 2018 (Order), the Court categorically ruled that “the funds in the
subject accounts of respondents Greenergy et al. are not related to the unlawful activity of
violation of R.A. 3019 and R.A. 7080.” Thus, the bank account of the Parent Company and
SREDC was “ordered Discharged from the effects of the Asset Preservation Order (APO)
dated December 15, 2015.”
Thereafter, the Petitioner, through the Office of the Solicitor General, filed a Motion for
Reconsideration (to the Order dated July 9, 2018) dated August 3, 2018 on even date to
which the Parent Company and SREDC filed its Comment/Opposition (to the Motion for
Reconsideration) dated December 11, 2018 on even date.
On July 1, 2019, the RTC Manila issued the Order of even date, denying the Petitioner’s
Motion for Reconsideration dated August 3, 2019 for lack of merit. In this connection, the
“Petitioner” has sixty (60) days from its receipt of the said Order within which to assail the
same through a petition for certiorari with the Court of Appeals. As of date however, the
Parent Company has not yet received any notice that the Petitioner filed such a petition for
certiorari.
Considering the lapse of the reglementary period to file a petition for certiorari, the Parent
Company has been advised that both the Orders dated July 9, 2018 and July 1, 2019 are
final and executory and a confirmatory certification will be obtained by the Company.

